BUILD BACK FAIRER: REDUCING SOCIOECONOMIC INEQUALITIES IN HEALTH IN HONG KONG





CUHK INSTITUTE OF HEALTH EQUITY 香港中文大學健康公平研究所

CONTENTS

FOREWORD ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS		
1A	Life expectancy in Hong Kong	7
1B	The social determinants of health	10
1C	Social inequalities and why they matter - for health and other outcomes	12
1D	Taking action on social determinants and health inequalities	13
1E	COVID-19 and inequalities	14
Сн	IAPTER 2 HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN HONG KONG	15
2A	Inequalities in mortality	16
2B	Inequalities in self-rated health	17
2C	Inequalities in chronic diseases	18
2D	Mental health	20
2E	Ethnicity and health	21
Сн	IAPTER 3 INEQUALITIES IN THE SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH IN HONG KONG	22
3A	Inequalities in income in Hong Kong	23
3B	Financial mechanisms	27
	Tax system	27
	Social welfare	28
	Comprehensive social security assistance scheme	30
	Working family allowance scheme	32
	Pension system in Hong Kong	32
	Minimum wage	33
3C	Poverty	34
	Child poverty	35
	In-work poverty Pewerty among population aged 65 and elder	38
70		40
3D		42
3E	Inequalities in employment in Hong Kong	44
3F	Inequalities in living conditions in Hong Kong	46
	Housing	46
	Overcrowding	47
	rype or nousing Housing affordability	4/ /2
	Environment	49



CHAPTER 4 HEALTHCARE AND HEALTH BEHAVIOURS		
4A Inequalities in access to healthcare	51	
4B Inequalities in healthy behaviours	53	
Smoking	53	
Being overweight and obese	55	
Health literacy and access to information	57	
CHAPTER 5 COVID-19		
5A COVID-19 and inequalities	59	
Rates of infection and mortality	59	
Mental health	60	
5B Inequalities in impacts from containment measures	61	
Financial Security	61	
Employment	62	
Education	63	
Exclusion and discrimination	64	
5C Hong Kong government responses to COVID-19	65	
5D Selected NGO/civil society responses to COVID-19	67	
CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS AND THE WAY FORWARD		

REFERENCES



71

FOREWORD

This report is being published as much of the world's attention is on the COP26 conference in Glasgow, and efforts to halt the climate crisis. Sustainability, rightly, is a priority issue for all of us. Health equity should be of comparable concern. In all countries, people who are more favoured in the conditions in which they are born, grow, live, work and age live longer, healthier lives than people living in less favourable conditions. The resulting health inequities should be not just a footnote to concerns with improving health, but the main issue. We want a world that is sustainable and where people's prospects for a long and healthy life are not made worse by social conditions – health inequities caused by the social determinants of health.

Studying the causes of health inequities, and using the best evidence to make recommendations as to how health equity can be improved, is the mission of the CUHK (The Chinese University of Hong Kong) Institute of Health Equity; as it is of the sister Institute of Health Equity at UCL (University College London). Indeed, there is active collaboration between the two institutes, CUHK and UCL. This report is a product of that collaboration. It is the first of a planned series of reports on social determinants of health and health equity. COVID-19 is a particular focus of this first report. The unequal impacts of the pandemic give added impetus to 'Build Back Fairer' – hence the title of the report. In building back, government, the voluntary sector, health and social services all have vital roles to play.

A Foreword may seem an odd place to have a word about language, but it is fundamental to our mission. There is a long tradition of studying health inequalities – those systematic differences in health between social groups. Where those health inequalities are judged to be avoidable by reasonable means, they are unfair, hence inequitable. Thus, in calling our Institutes 'Health Equity', both in Hong Kong and the UK, we are reflecting our commitment to improving the conditions in society that damage people's health unfairly.

For years, Japan had the longest life expectancy in the world. In Hong Kong it is now longer. It is a fair presumption that, on average, the conditions for a healthy life are favourable in Hong Kong, compared to other countries. But such good conditions are not equally distributed. One concern of the CUHK IHE, then, is the unequal distribution of these conditions for a healthy life – the social determinants of health. A second focus is to ask the question of why Hong Kong has done so well. To that end, the ambition of the CUHK IHE is to be centre of excellence for the study of health equity in Asia. It is only by making comparisons that the reasons for the success of Hong Kong and other East Asian countries can be well understood. We have established an Asian network of leading researchers whose work will be the subject of later reports.

The study of health and health equity is a unifying endeavour. We see the work we do together as not just bringing together researchers from Hong Kong and the UK, but our ambition is nothing less than establishing the CUHK IHE as a leading part of a global community now concerned with health equity.



Auchand hovement

Prof. Sir Michael Marmot Director, UCL IHE and Co-Director, CUHK IHE





Prof. Jean Woo Co-Director, CUHK IHE



Prof. Eng-Kiong Yeoh Co-Director, CUHK IHE



ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

REPORT WRITING TEAM:

UCL IHE: Professor Sir Michael Marmot, Director; Dr Michael Alexander, Senior Research Fellow; Dr Jessica Allen, Deputy Director; Professor Peter Goldblatt, Senior Advisor; Dr Joana Morrison, Senior Research Fellow.

CUHK IHE: Prof. Jean Woo, Co-Director; Prof. Eng-Kiong Yeoh, Co-Director; Prof. Hung Wong, Associate Director; Prof. Roger Chung, Associate Director; Prof. Eric Lai, Research Assistant Professor; Dr. Gary Chung, Postdoctoral Fellow; Mr. Yat-Hang Chan, Research Assistant; Mr. Richard Lee, Functional Manager; Dr. Siu-Ming Chan, Assistant Professor, Department of Social and Behavioural Sciences, City University of Hong Kong.

Joana Morrison, Peter Goldblatt, Eleanor Herd and Michael Alexander coordinated production and analysis of tables and charts.

Suggested citation: Michael Marmot, Michael Alexander, Jessica Allen, Peter Goldblatt, Joana Morrison, Jean Woo, Eng-Kiong Yeoh, Hung Wong, Roger Chung, Eric Lai, Gary Chung, Richard Lee, Yat-Hang Chan, Siu-Ming Chan (2021), Build Back Fairer: Reducing socioeconomic inequalities in health in Hong Kong. London: Institute of Health Equity.

ABOUT THE UCL INSTITUTE OF HEALTH EQUITY

The UCL Institute of Health Equity (UCL IHE) (www.instituteofhealthequity.org) was established in 2011 to develop and support approaches to health equity and build on work that has assessed, measured and implemented approaches to tackle inequalities in health and is led by Professor Sir Michael Marmot. The Institute works to build the evidence base and advise and support implementation of approaches to health inequalities in the UK and globally.

ABOUT THE CUHK INSTITUTE OF HEALTH EQUITY

The Chinese University of Hong Kong Institute of Health Equity (CUHK IHE) (www.ihe.cuhk.edu.hk) was established in 2020 with the vision as a leading institution in promoting health equity studies in the Asian region. The Institute endeavours to examine and understand issues of health equity in Hong Kong, inform government policies and intervention programmes to improve health equity of Hong Kong, and establish a network for the Asian region.

THE UCL IHE AND CUHK IHE COLLABORATION

The UCL Institute of Health Equity is a collaborative partner to the CUHK Institute of Health Equity. The two institutes have a continuing collaboration to develop research and produce a series of reports to review health equity and the social determinants in Hong Kong and to build a network on related issues across Asia.

ISBN: 978-988-75579-0-6



CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

Hong Kong is an advanced Asian economy with the highest life expectancy in the world and amongst the highest levels of gross domestic product (GDP) per capita. Despite this, there are health inequalities between social groups in Hong Kong that this report will examine. These inequalities are a result of inequalities in the social determinants of health, the factors in a society that influence health outcomes, as well as inequalities in access to healthcare.

The social determinants of health include the conditions of daily life: the conditions in which people are born, grow, live, work, and age. Education, housing, work, socioeconomic position, and more are the 'causes of the causes' of ill-health. Social determinants also include the structural determinants of these conditions: the wider forces and systems governing the unequal distribution of money, power, and resources - the social, political and cultural mechanisms by which society is ordered and hierarchies formed. These include economic policies and systems, social norms including gender norms, social policies and political systems. Inequalities in these lead to inequalities in health and wellbeing outcomes. Research shows that the social determinants are more important than healthcare or lifestyle choices in influencing the health of individuals in a society (1). Economic growth has often been used as a measure of the success of a society, but a more holistic view of social wellbeing must take social inequality, and attendant health inequality, into account.

This report is the first of a series which the University College London (UCL) Institute of Health Equity and the Chinese University of Hong Kong Institute of Health Equity plan to produce over a five-year period, and will take an overview of inequalities in health and the social determinants in Hong Kong.

6

1A LIFE EXPECTANCY IN HONG KONG

Life expectancy at birth is a key indicator of the health of a given population. Life expectancy is an estimate of how long a baby born today would live if they experienced current age-specific mortality rates through their life. Trends in life expectancy therefore provide an indication of changes in mortality experienced by the population. In all countries life expectancy is related to the social determinants of health described in Section 1.B (2) (3) (4).

Life expectancy in Hong Kong is high compared to countries with similar economic and social development, surpassing Japan for men in 2001, and for women in 2011. While for most comparison countries included in Figure 1.1(a), life expectancy at birth has stalled since around 2016, life expectancy at birth in Hong Kong has continued to increase, especially for men.







A. MEN

B. WOMEN



Source: Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Hong Kong (2019). Hong Kong Monthly Digest of Statistics -November 2019 : The Mortality Trend in Hong Kong, 1986 to 2018 (5) As shown in Figure 1.2, Hong Kong has the third greatest difference between the life expectancy of women and that of men when compared with countries with similar economic and social development in 2018. Differences between male and female life expectancy have declined since 1986 in all countries shown except Hong Kong, where the difference between male and female life expectancy was nearly the same in 2018 as it was in 1986, despite some variation within the period. Later reports in this series will look at gender differences in greater detail.





Difference in life expectancy (years)

Source: Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Hong Kong (2019). Hong Kong Monthly Digest of Statistics -November 2019 : The Mortality Trend in Hong Kong, 1986 to 2018 (5)

There are no routine data available to examine social inequalities in life expectancy in Hong Kong. Subsequent sections will look at inequalities in health using data other than life expectancy.



1B THE SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH

Health inequities are those inequalities in health across populations, and between different groups within society, that are avoidable by reasonable means and are therefore unfair. These health inequalities arise because of inequalities in the social determinants of health. The conditions of daily life and their deeper structural drivers influence both the resources and the capability to make use of those resources in order to lead a life that we have reason to value (6). These conditions determine the capability to be healthy and shape mental health, physical health and wellbeing (7) (8).

The Commission on Social Determinants of Health (CSDH) framework, Figure 1.3 below, shows how structural drivers in society both influence social stratification and affect people according to their socioeconomic position in society, defined according to education, occupation, income, gender and race/ethnicity. In turn, based on their socioeconomic position, groups of individuals experience differences in exposure and vulnerability to healthcompromising conditions (9). These vulnerabilities, together with the role that the health system plays in addressing the health consequences, lead to inequities in health and wellbeing (10).



Source: CSDH adapted from Solar O, Irwin A (2010). A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health (9).

Figure 1.3 Commission on Social Determinants of Health conceptual framework

The framework produced for the *Review of social* determinants and the health divide in the WHO *European Region* incorporated a life course perspective into this framework. Early life experiences are associated with what happens in subsequent stages, and the length and quality of life. Thriving during early years will likely influence children's readiness for school; educational experience and attainment; income; type of employment; living conditions; and health outcomes throughout life. Figure 1.4 below shows how advantage and disadvantage accumulate through life, starting in the prenatal period (11).



Figure 1.4 Broad themes for action on the social determinants of health

Source: WHO (2013). Review of social determinants and the health divide in the WHO European Region (12).

By understanding how these frameworks relate to the conditions in Hong Kong, we can identify areas where intervention to ameliorate health inequalities can be effective, and suggest areas for policy action 'upstream' on the social determinants of health that can have beneficial and equitable health effects 'downstream'.

1C SOCIAL INEQUALITIES AND WHY THEY MATTER - FOR HEALTH AND OTHER OUTCOMES

Within countries at all levels of income, health follows a social gradient: the lower the socioeconomic position, the worse the health, and the shorter the lives (8) (13). This holds true even in wealthy societies like Hong Kong. In countries with profound poverty, where the poor do not have access to sufficient food, to shelter, to sanitation, and to clean drinking water, it is easy to see how wealth affects health. The poor in these societies are at risk of death from starvation and infectious diseases, particularly diarrhoeal disease, from which the better-off are protected. What is more remarkable is that social gradients in health can be seen even in wealthier societies, where nearly everyone has access to the most basic necessities. Furthermore, these gradients do not simply divide the poor from the non-poor but show fine gradation up and down the social scale.

Social gradients in health are related to relative socioeconomic position in society and are steeper in societies with more pronounced inequality. They may be better explained by reference to relative deprivation rather than simple income poverty. Individuals are deprived when they are prevented from accessing whatever resources – material, intellectual, social or otherwise – that they require to participate fully in society. Deprivation translates to worse health through a number of pathways, including increased exposure to environmental, occupational and housing health risks; increased risk-taking behaviours; and reduced access to components of a healthy lifestyle.

Those lower on the social gradient also experience greater psychosocial stress, in life situations which combine high demands and low control. This is particularly pronounced for those in poverty, living in areas with high crime rates, poor quality housing and low employment. There is evidence to suggest that such long-term stress has direct health consequences, mediated by the body's stress responses, which may contribute towards the metabolic syndrome and associated conditions, including type 2 diabetes and coronary heart disease (14). This may help explain why so-called 'diseases of affluence' like these can be more common in wealthy societies, but also be more common amongst the more deprived within those societies.

These concepts of relative deprivation and the social gradient of health are key for explaining why tackling inequality is crucial to improving the health of any society, and not just for the very worst off, but for everyone up the social scale short of the very top.

Unaddressed inequality is unfair and unnecessary and creates the conditions for poor health, societal dysfunction and instability. Highly unequal societies do worse in many health and social measures including life expectancy, mental health and crime. The case for reducing avoidable health inequalities is a moral one. If health inequalities could be reduced by reasonable means, they are unjust, a manifestation of social injustice. Improving health for all in society is an indicator of an improved society.

Mackenbach et al. estimated that over 700,000 deaths per year and 33 million cases of ill-health in the European Union (EU) could be avoided if the socioeconomically worse-off had the same health as the better-off, and that the expectancy of life in good health in the EU was reduced by 6.98 years due to the impact of inequalities (15). The Equality Trust estimated that if inequality was reduced in the United Kingdom, healthy life expectancy could increase by around 8.5 months; the population in prisons could fall by around 37%; and mental health could improve by 5% (16).

Inequality also incurs significant financial costs to a country. Inequality-related health losses in the EU were estimated to account for around 20% of total healthcare costs and 15% of total social security benefit costs. It was also estimated that welfare losses related to health inequality amount to around €980 billion (HK\$9 trillion) per year, equivalent to around 9.4% of GDP. Health inequality related losses also reduce labour productivity and reduced GDP by 1.4% per year (15). The overall cost of inequality to the United Kingdom was estimated at around £39 billion (HK\$420 billion) a year, due to effects on health, wellbeing and crime, insofar as these costs could be calculated, although the researchers noted that the true cost may be significantly higher (16).

1D TAKING ACTION ON SOCIAL DETERMINANTS AND HEALTH INEQUALITIES

Scaled up and systematic action is required to address inequities in health and promote healthier populations. The World Health Organization (WHO) CSDH recommended the reduction of the inequitable distribution of power, money and resources; the improvement of daily living conditions; and the measurement and assessment of health inequities and the actions to reduce them (10).

The UCL Institute of Health Equity coined the term 'proportionate universalism' to describe policies and resources that are universal across society, but with effort proportionate to need along the social gradient. The National Health Service in the United Kingdom is a good example of proportionate universalism: a service for all, but with effort and resources focussed on where the needs are greatest. Here, need is defined clinically. To reduce inequalities in health we define need socially.

The 2010 *Marmot Review: Fair Society, Healthy Lives* laid out six broad policy objectives: give every child the best start in life; enable all children, young people and adults to maximise their capabilities and have control over their lives; create fair employment and good work for all; ensure a healthy standard of living for all; create and develop healthy and sustainable places and communities; and, strengthen the role and impact of ill-health prevention. Policies that are aimed at meeting these ambitions can have multiple and cumulative beneficial societal outcomes, reducing deprivation and inequities, and improving health for all (17).

Health equity is a shared responsibility for all arms of government, all sectors of society and every country in the world (17). Action on these social determinants must go beyond the health sector and include collaborative partnerships with the public, private and voluntary sectors, who all influence these broader determinants in domains such as housing, education and transport (19).

1E COVID-19 AND INEQUALITIES

As described in the report *Build Back Fairer: The COVID-19 Marmot Review* for England, the COVID-19 pandemic further revealed and amplified inequalities in health in England, with clear socioeconomic and ethnic inequalities in risk of mortality from the disease (20). These differing risks are related to factors such as area deprivation, occupational exposures, living conditions, ethnicity, religion and previous health.

The effects of the pandemic were not limited to those of COVID-19 itself, but also to the necessary measures taken to contain it. The *Build Back Fairer* report also found that social, economic and health inequalities were increased across the board by lockdown and other containment measures. Section 5 of this report will look at the evidence relating to COVID-19 and inequalities in Hong Kong.



CHAPTER 2 HEALTH INEQUALITIES IN HONG KONG

This report assesses the state of health inequalities in Hong Kong. Unfortunately, there are significant limitations in the data available. One of our recommendations is to improve the capacity to monitor health inequalities on a regular basis. While we know that Hong Kong residents enjoy long life expectancy, there has only been limited investigation into how this relates to income, education or area deprivation. Nevertheless, there is evidence of inequalities in self-rated health, in the burden of disease, both physical and mental, and in the prevalence of being overweight or obese.

15



2A INEQUALITIES IN MORTALITY

It is a consistent finding across countries that life expectancy closely relates to socioeconomic position. In England, for example, prior to the COVID-19 pandemic, the difference in life expectancy at birth between the least and most deprived deciles was 9.5 years for males and 7.7 years for females (21). Even in a relatively healthy and wealthy society, the difference in life expectancy for a man at one end of the social gradient can be nearly a decade longer than his counterpart at the other end.

A study by Chung et al. looked into inequalities in mortality risks between lower and higher socioeconomic strata in Hong Kong by birth cohort using data from 1976-2010 (22). They found that, while there was a substantial decline of mortality rates across both strata, there was a widening of inequality between the two. In other words, although the health of all of Hong Kong improved in the context of post-war rapid economic growth, the benefits were spread unequally. This was true of all-cause mortality, and of all but one of the specific causes studied, including ischaemic heart disease, other cardiovascular disease, lung cancer, other cancers, respiratory disease, other medical causes and external causes. The exception was lung cancer in women. The study also found that, prior to the 1990s, the mortality risk from ischaemic heart disease was higher for men in a higher socioeconomic position than for men lower on the social gradient, but that pattern has since reversed. This is in keeping with the idea that 'diseases of affluence', where risk factors include obesity and a sedentary lifestyle, may be rarer amongst groups of lower socioeconomic position in poorer countries but follow the social gradient in richer countries. In other words, while mortality from such conditions may be more common in richer countries, they afflict the relatively deprived within those countries more than the relatively well-off.



2B INEQUALITIES IN SELF-RATED HEALTH

Self-rated health is widely accepted measure used as a predictor of morbidity and mortality and a measure of population health status (23) (24). It is a subjective measure of overall health status and is typically measured through survey questionnaires, where respondents rate their present health according to a categorical scale ranging from poor to excellent (or in similar terms) (25).

In Hong Kong in 2014/15, a higher proportion of men had a self-rated health status of very good or excellent (35%) when compared to women (30%) and the proportion decreased with age – from 50% at ages 15 to 24 to around 10% over the age of 75 (24). This is in keeping with findings in other wealthy countries that women live longer, but have worse health (26).

Figure 2.1 shows that self-rated health is directly related to household income – the greater the income of the

household, the more likely it is that those in the household will regard their health as excellent or very good, and the less likely that it will be regarded as poor or fair. Less than 20% of those with an income below HK\$10,000 reported very good or excellent health, while the figure was 39% among those with an income of HK\$50,000 or more. Self-reported health was strongly correlated with reporting of doctor diagnosed chronic diseases – those with fewer diagnoses described having better self-perceived health than those with a higher number.

Figure 2.1 Distribution of self-rated health status responses in Hong Kong by monthly household income (HK\$), 2014/2015



Source: Surveillance and Epidemiology Branch Centre for Health Protection Department of Health - Report of Population Health Survey 2014/15 (24).

2C INEQUALITIES IN CHRONIC DISEASES

Non-communicable diseases (NCDs), also referred to as chronic diseases, which include cardiovascular diseases, chronic respiratory diseases, diabetes and cancers, are the leading cause of mortality worldwide (27). NCDs are closely associated with poverty, and are a major contributor to the inequalities in health experienced by the poor and other vulnerable and socially disadvantaged groups, in countries at all levels of development. NCDs can also have serious economic consequences for households and individuals, exacerbating existing inequalities and helping perpetuate a cycle of poverty (28).

Globally, the prevalence of individuals with two or more chronic conditions, i.e. multimorbidity, is increasing (29). Multimorbidity has been associated with an increased risk of adverse health outcomes including poorer quality of life, self-rated health and physical function; increased primary care use and hospital admissions and increased mortality. Multimorbidity can increase the complexity of care, leading to higher medical costs and posing significant challenges to healthcare services (30) (31). There is evidence to suggest that lower socioeconomic position is associated with multimorbidity, with those in more deprived groups being disproportionately affected (32) (33). In 2016, over half of the registered deaths (55.2%) in Hong Kong were attributed to five specific NCDs alone: heart disease; cancer; chronic respiratory diseases; stroke; and diabetes (34). Hong Kong is facing increased challenges from NCDs, exacerbated by its ageing population (35).

Among employed persons, the prevalence of chronic diseases was highest for those earning HK\$4,000-6,999 per month, the second lowest income group (Figure 2.2). It should be noted that these numbers are not age-standardised. The lowest-earning group will be composed of part-time workers, who are disproportionately likely to be in the 15 to 24-year-old age group and therefore low in rates of chronic disease (36).

Figure 2.2 Prevalence of chronic disease by monthly household income (HK\$) among employed persons, 2014



Monthly employment earnings (HK\$)

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2014). Special Topics Report No. 62 (37)

A local study in 2015 found that having lower education levels (no education beyond primary school or below); having a lower income (a monthly household income of <HK\$15,000); being unemployed or retired; and being a previous daily smoker were all significant independent risk factors for multimorbidity in Hong Kong, as can be seen in Figure 2.3 (38).

Figure 2.3 Odds ratios for significant risk factors of multimorbidity, after adjustment for confounding factors



Odds Ratio

Source: Chung et al. (2015) (38).

Note: Odds ratios adjusted for all confounding factors (Gender; Age; Type of housing; Highest level of education attained; Monthly household income; Employment status; Smoking status). Odds ratio indicates the odds of multimorbidity in the presence of a given risk factor as compared with its absence: an OR of 1 indicates no association, i.e. as likely with the risk factor as without. Error bars represent 95% confidence interval.

These results suggest that, in Hong Kong, more disadvantaged people tend to have a higher risk of multimorbidity: such groups also tend to access healthcare through the public sector and have poor primary healthcare experience. This is supported by one of the findings in a recent local study which indicated a close relationship between the number of chronic diseases and a lower likelihood of having regular primary healthcare in the private sector (39). The 2015 study also found that middle-class individuals ineligible for subsidized public housing may have a higher risk of multimorbidity (38). This may be related to the stress associated with covering the costs of private housing, which is unaffordable for many in Hong Kong.

2D MENTAL HEALTH

Mental health disorders, which include depression, anxiety disorders, schizophrenia and dementia are a major disease burden globally. Mental health disorders can significantly impact general health and wellbeing, being linked with physical health conditions and other adverse health outcomes. Mental health disorders have been linked with premature mortality (40). It should, however, be noted that 'the absence of mental disorder does not necessarily mean the presence of good mental health' and mental health issues which do not meet the diagnostic threshold for a mental health disorder often affect a large proportion of populations (41) (42).

In Hong Kong, the Report of the Population Health Survey 2014/2015 provides data on the magnitude of selected mental health disorders including depression, anxiety disorders, schizophrenia and bipolar affective disorder. These disorders are more prevalent in women than men, with the exception of schizophrenia which has an equal prevalence between genders. In terms of age, the highest prevalence of anxiety disorders and depression was in the 65-74 years age group. The prevalence of schizophrenia tended to decrease with age, in keeping with its nature as a life-long condition that usually manifests in youth or young adulthood: mortality outweighs incidence in later life (43).

Results of research commissioned by Mind HK in 2019 indicated that 61% of persons in Hong Kong had 'poor mental wellbeing and unsatisfactory mental health'. Other key findings of this research were that women had significantly lower mental wellbeing than men and that there had been an 11% drop in mental wellbeing since 2018, in a sharp and concerning decline (24).

Hong Kong had an average WHO-5 mental wellbeing score of 44.6 in 2019, falling in recent years from a high of 59.75 in 2017 (24). This is quite a widely used measure, and so can be compared to data from the European Quality of Life Survey of EU and EU candidate nations, which found scores ranging from 52 in Serbia to 70 in Ireland and Denmark (the United Kingdom scored 63) (44). This appears to place Hong Kong very low for wellbeing compared to European nations, although wellbeing is a subjective measure and this should be borne in mind when making international comparisons.

Mental health is shaped by the physical, social and economic environments in which people live. The risk factors for mental health disorders are largely linked with social inequality, with those in lower socioeconomic groups being disproportionately impacted (41). As outlined by Elliot (2016), poverty can be both a cause and a consequence of poor mental health (45).

A study by Chung et al. in 2020 found that deprivation was associated with a higher risk of stress and anxiety in Hong Kong, even adjusting for the effect of income poverty, and that income poverty was not independently associated with such risks. Increased deprivation over time was also associated with higher anxiety and stress scores at follow-up (46). Chan et al. (2017) also found that relative deprivation was consistently associated with lower perceived happiness, even after adjusting for absolute income and other sociodemographic variables (47).

2E ETHNICITY AND HEALTH

Global evidence suggests that ethnic minority groups tend to experience poorer health in comparison to non-ethnic minority groups (48) (49) (50). Gathering and analysing health data on ethnicity is important for improving patient care and for identifying health needs and inequalities at a population level. As outlined by Health in Action, a Hong Kong non-governmental organization, such relevant data is often lacking in Hong Kong. However, they have identified some health inequalities by ethnicity where there is data available: for example, the obesity rate for South Asian females is 50% compared to 14% for Chinese females, and there is a much lower influenza vaccination rate amongst older Nepalese people compared to older Chinese people. Health in Action have warned that, when compared to local Chinese people, ethnic minority groups are generally less aware of public health promotion programmes, and face a language barrier in accessing healthcare (53).

Local research has also established that there are ethnic inequalities related to type 2 diabetes for ethnic minorities in Hong Kong, finding that ethnic minority patients with diabetes were younger and more obese, and had worse glycaemic control (51). Qualitative research among healthcare providers has also suggested that there are significant cultural and linguistic barriers to accessing care for ethnic minorities in Hong Kong which the healthcare system is not well-equipped to overcome and are therefore likely to exacerbate health inequalities (52). A checklist of measures to facilitate access to public health services for ethnic minorities has been developed by the Food and Health Bureau, the Department of Health and the Hospital Authority. However, there is a lack of patient data for ethnic minorities in the public sector to allow for an evaluation of the effectiveness of these measures (53).



CHAPTER 3 INEQUALITIES IN THE SOCIAL DETERMINANTS OF HEALTH IN HONG KONG

In this section we will assess the social determinants of health in Hong Kong: what we earlier described as the 'causes of the causes' of ill health. Communicable disease is transmitted by some form of pathogen like a virus, a bacterium, or a parasite. Non-communicable disease often develops as a result of risk factors like nutrition, alcohol or tobacco use, or exposure to occupational hazards. However, for both communicable and non-communicable diseases, there are upstream determinants that affect how likely you are to be exposed to risk factors, how likely you are to develop the disease, how that disease will affect you, how easily you will be able to access healthcare, and how you will recover. As the physician Sir William Osler noted over 100 years ago, 'It is much more important to know what sort of a patient has a disease than what sort of a disease a patient has.' We would go beyond that to observe that the sort of patient they are is largely determined by the conditions in which they were born, grew, live, work, and age. We will examine inequalities in income, in welfare support, in education, in employment, in housing and environment: all of which inequalities help to shape inequalities in health.

It has also been argued that more unequal societies have worse health overall, not just worse for those at the sharp end of inequalities (54). Hong Kong bucks that trend, by having high levels of inequality and low welfare spending, but nevertheless enjoying the longest life expectancy in the world. It may be that Hong Kong is simply an outlier, but the factors that make it so are unclear, and it may be that inequalities in the present will have damaging effects on health in the future (55). More research is needed into this seeming 'paradox' and further reports in this series will look closely at this question.

3A INEQUALITIES IN INCOME IN HONG KONG

It is crucial to health and wellbeing that individuals have control over their own lives, and are able to participate in society. Having money is necessary, but not sufficient: while having a reasonable income cannot guarantee good health, having an income insufficient for one's needs will assuredly contribute to worse health. As the Health Foundation have outlined, inadequate incomes lead to poor health by making it harder to avoid stress and feel in control of one's life; harder to access resources; harder to adopt and maintain healthy behaviours; and by removing the sense of a supportive financial safety net (21) (56). The relationship also works in the other direction: lower income can lead to poorer health, and poor health can reduce earning capacity (16).



Over the past 30 years, the Hong Kong economy grew by an average of 3.8% per annum in real terms (57). However, income distribution in Hong Kong is highly unequal. The Gini coefficient is a commonly used measure of income inequality. It is based on a 'comparison of cumulative proportions of the population against cumulative proportions of income they receive' (58). The Gini coefficient ranges from a score of 0 to 1 where 0 indicates complete equality and 1 indicates complete inequality.

Hong Kong has a relatively high Gini coefficient compared to other developed nations, although international comparisons have to be made with care due to significant variation in the way it is calculated (59) (58). Hong Kong's status as a metropolitan state means its economy may be better compared to other metropolitan areas: based on original (pre-tax and pre-social transfers) household income, Hong Kong's Gini (0.539 in 2016) is broadly comparable with US cities like New York (0.551 in 2015), Los Angeles and Chicago (both 0.531), and lower than that of Greater London in the United Kingdom (0.582 in 2011) (60) (61). The Gini coefficients of these cities are all significantly higher than those of their countries as a whole.

Perhaps the most useful comparison is with Singapore, another Asian, mostly metropolitan, state. Singapore's Gini coefficient is calculated post-tax and post-social transfers, and based on the per capita income of economically active households. Compared with the equivalent calculation for Hong Kong, in 2016 they were almost exactly the same (0.402 to 0.401) (60).

Between 2006 and 2016, while Hong Kong's Gini coefficient based on original household income has increased slightly, from 0.533 to 0.539, after taxation and welfare it has stayed very similar, from 0.475 to 0.473 (60). Such an income inequality could be reflected by Figure 3.1 which shows the income distribution of the working population of Hong Kong by main employment in 2016. While around one-fifth of working individuals earned HK\$30,000 or above, another one-fifth earned less than HK\$10,000. In addition, the income level was greater for men than women in general.

Figure 3.1 Distribution of individual income (HK\$) of the working population in Hong Kong (excluding foreign domestic workers) from their main employment by gender, 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

As shown in Figure 3.2, median monthly income between 2006 and 2016 was greater among managers and professionals than among other occupation groups, whose median income increased by 65% over this period, driving widening income inequalities. Other groups saw much lower increases, both in absolute and relative terms. Plant and machine operators and assemblers, for example, only saw median wages increase by 37%, and elementary occupations (such as labourers and domestic workers) by 43%. When foreign domestic workers are excluded,

elementary occupations saw median wages increase by 67%: although wages for all in this group remain low, it is notably the foreign domestic workers who are seeing minimal increases. In absolute terms, although skilled agricultural and fishery workers, and other unclassifiable occupations, saw a 69% increase in their income from main employment, this only translates to an extra HK\$4,500, compared with the additional HK\$17,000 gained by managers and administrators.

Figure 3.2 Median monthly income (HK\$) from main employment of working population by broad occupation group in Hong Kong, 2006, 2011 and 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

Note: Elementary occupations include "street vendors; domestic helpers and cleaners; messengers; private security guards; watchmen; freight handlers; lift operators; construction labourers; hand packers; agricultural and fishery labourers" (60).

As shown in Figure 3.3, the median monthly income was higher among groups with more education, although it rose for all educational attainment groups during 2006-2016.

Figure 3.3 Median monthly income (HK\$) from main employment of working population by highest level of educational attainment, Hong Kong, 2006, 2011 and 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

In terms of inequalities in household income, median monthly household income among economically active households was markedly greater in the two highest income deciles. Figure 3.4 also shows that, between 2006 and 2016, the increase in income was greater in these two deciles (around HK\$7,000) than all others combined. However, the percentage increase was greatest in decile 1 (lowest income level) at around 23%.



Figure 3.4 Median original monthly household income (HK\$) of economically active households (including foreign domestic workers) at constant (June 2016) prices by income decile group, 2006, 2011 and 2016

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

Figure 3.5 shows that the variation in sources of income across income quintiles. At lower levels of income, the majority of income does not come from employment, and this is likely to represent welfare and charity support, or pensions amongst retired people. At higher levels of household income, the majority of income derives directly from employment. The proportion of households in receipt of multiple income strands increases with household income: this is likely to represent return on capital, including dividends and rent.

Percent 70 60 50 No income Employment income only Other cash income only 40 Both employment and other cash income 30 20 10 0 Bottom guintile Middle 60 percent Top quintile

Figure 3.5 Distribution of households within broad income groups by source of income in Hong Kong, 2016

Income decile group

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

Note: Other cash income refers to 'income generated from rent income, interest, dividends, regular/ monthly pensions and insurance annuity benefits, regular contribution from persons outside the household, regular contribution from charities, comprehensive social security assistance, old age allowance, old age living allowance, normal disability allowance, higher disability allowance, education-related Government subsidies and other Government subsidies. Income from lottery/ gambling winnings, loan obtained, compensation, inheritances, loan payment received and proceeds from sale of assets are excluded'.

3B FINANCIAL MECHANISMS

Hong Kong's approach to taxation and government spending has always favoured a lowtax, low-spending system, variously described as 'laissez-faire' or 'non-interventionist', that leans away from using social programmes to redistribute wealth or reduce inequalities (62). Although social welfare programmes do exist, as we will see, they are highly targeted and limited in scope.

In the Nordic countries of Europe, which broadly enjoy good health, low crime, high social mobility and quality education, the Nordic Experience of the Welfare State group examined the evidence for the effects of welfare on health. They concluded that a broad scope of public service provision across the life course, including redistributive welfare policies; policies that took into account equality of opportunity and outcome; and policies that were universal rather than means-tested and highly targeted, were crucial (63). A functioning welfare state can lift families out of poverty, with its attendant health risks, and provide support to disadvantaged groups, including older people and those with disabilities.

The provision of good public services has the potential to improve health by reducing the link between low income and actual deprivation: if the public realm provides subsidised health care, transportation and education, then the relatively income-poor need not be absolutely deprived of these benefits, with their impact on health. Following the evidence that universalist policies produce the greatest benefits for health, the UCL Institute of Health Equity supports policies of 'proportionate universalism', that are provided to all, but resources focused where there is greatest need.

TAX SYSTEM

Taxation can be an engine of wealth redistribution. A tax system, alongside a system of social welfare, funded from taxation, can work to reduce social inequities, and thus reduce health inequalities. As outlined in an article by Marques (2020), 'the structure of the fiscal system [in Hong Kong] does not promote redistribution' (62). Revenues in Hong Kong have depended on levies paid by corporations and on land sales, rather than on income taxes, which, it has been suggested, around 50% of workers do not earn enough to pay. Budget estimates for 2019-2020 show that the highest proportion of tax revenue came from profit taxes, land premiums and other operating revenues, as shown in Figure 3.6 (64). This impacts on the Hong Kong welfare system, which has been described as 'no longer fit for purpose', undermining opportunities for good health and the reduction of health inequalities (62).

Figure 3.6 Distribution of total government revenue estimates by item, 2019-2020



Source: Research Office Legislative Council Secretariat (2019). Major sources of government revenue (64)

Note: Other operating revenue refers to 'investment income earned under the General Revenue Account, fees and charges, betting duty, government rents and duties'. Other capital revenue refers to 'investment income earned under the Capital Account, loan repayments received by various funds, and recovery of the land costs for the flats sold under the Home Ownership Scheme from the Hong Kong Housing Authority'

In Section 3A above, we showed that income inequalities are widening in Hong Kong, although the figures were pre-tax. Figure 3.7 shows that post-tax household income in all types of household increased between 2006 and 2016 and that in the highest income decile (decile 10), there was a 42% increase from HK\$102,220 to HK\$144,850 Hong Kong compared with

an increase of 17% in the lowest income decile (decile 1) from HK\$1,950 to HK\$2,290. This suggests that the tax system is not working to reduce income inequalities and encourage redistribution. It should be noted that this graph includes economically inactive households, which are likely to make up a significant proportion of the lower income deciles.





Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2017). 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

SOCIAL WELFARE

According to Oxfam's Hong Kong Inequality Report, the Hong Kong Government had accumulated a surplus of over HK\$690 billion between 2008 and 2018, resulting in HK\$1.1 trillion in fiscal reserves. However, despite these increases, the ratio of government's recurrent expenditures on education, healthcare and social welfare to GDP has continued to decrease (65). After recording a fiscal surplus for 15 years in a row, Hong Kong reverted to a fiscal deficit of HK\$37.8 billion (i.e. 1.3% of GDP) in 2019-2020 (66). The deficit is expected to more than triple to HK\$139.1 billion (4.8% of GDP) in 2020-2021, and the Financial Secretary forecasts four more deficit years ahead, largely due to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Prior to the pandemic, recurrent expenditures on education, healthcare and social welfare were equivalent to 14.4% of GDP in Hong Kong's 2018/19 budget (65). While there are no directly comparable international figures, the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (OECD) does publish social spending data for its members, indicating the proportion of their GDP on social expenditure, comprising cash and in-kind benefits and tax breaks with a social purpose. In 2019, the United Kingdom spent the equivalent of 20.6% of GDP, close to the OECD average of 20.0%, and the United States of America spent 18.7%, while Norway, Sweden, Germany, Austria, Italy, Denmark, Belgium, Finland and France all spent over 25% (67). The most recent data available for Japan is 2017, when social spending comprised 22.3% of GDP. The government's recurrent cash measures in 2019 – i.e. regular payments as part of a social welfare programme, excluding one-off relief packages and benefits in kind – served to lift 174,500 households and 392,900 individuals out of poverty and reduce the poverty rate to 15.8%,

from a theoretical pre-intervention rate of 21.4% (68). The poverty line in Hong Kong is a relative measure, set at 50% of the median monthly household income. There have been minimal changes in the poverty rate in Hong Kong both before and after policy intervention since 2009, as shown in Figure 3.8.





Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2019). Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

Figure 3.9 shows variations in the poverty rate before recurrent cash policy intervention between districts in Hong Kong in 2019, ranging from 27.2% in Kwun Tong to 14.2% in Wan Chai. Reductions in the poverty rate were seen to varying degrees across all of the districts following policy intervention, and this was generally more pronounced in districts with higher pre-intervention poverty rates.

Figure 3.9 Percentage of households in poverty before and after recurrent cash policy intervention in Hong Kong, by District Council 2019



Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2019). Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

The section below outlines some of the key social welfare assistance programmes available in Hong Kong. There also exist a few different programmes for the support of older people and those with disabilities, grouped together as the Social Security Allowance Scheme, including both means-tested components for those over 65 and non-means-tested components for those over 70 or with a doctor-certified disability (69). There are also forms of housing subsidy discussed in section 3F on housing affordability below. As noted previously a great deal of support is also offered by NGOs, voluntary sector organisations and philanthropists.

COMPREHENSIVE SOCIAL SECURITY ASSISTANCE SCHEME

The Comprehensive Social Security Assistance (CSSA) is intended to supplement incomes for the poorest in Hong Kong. Yet even with greater public awareness of the plight of low-skilled workers, lone parents, older people and the unemployed, a means- and incometested structure excludes many (70) (62). The average monthly payment for a household of four people eligible for CSSA in 2019 was HK\$15,675, and for a single person HK\$6,507 (71). For context, rent for even subdivided lodgings, which are on average the size of a parking space, can be well over HK\$5,000, leaving little to spend on other necessities such as utilities, food, and clothing, let alone social engagement or emergencies (62) (72).

The Legislative Council Panel on Welfare Services stated clearly in 2019 that the CSSA was intended to be 'a safety net of last resort for recipients to meet their basic needs' and expressed concern that a more generous offering would have 'the undesirable effect of discouraging able-bodied adults from fully engaging in the labour market' (73).

In 2016, there were 308,549 working poor households, approximately 40% of which were poor enough to qualify for the CSSA (65). However, the number of those who receive the CSSA is significantly lower than the total number of working poor households who have a monthly income of less than the average CSSA amount, as shown in Figure 3.10.

Figure 3.10 Number of working poor households with incomes lower than the average CSSA amount and number of CSSA cases, 2001-2016



Source: Oxfam (2018). Hong Kong Inequality Report (65)

In 2016, only 4.5% of working poor households eligible to apply for the CSSA did so, as shown in Figure 3.11. It also shows that the ratio of working poor households applying for the CSSA in Hong Kong has been decreasing since 2006 (74).

It has been suggested that many do not access the CSSA because of stigma associated with accessing help (62). It can also be difficult to navigate the demands of a complex welfare system, and not all of those eligible may even be aware of the existence of such programmes. A simplified, and well-publicised, 'one stop shop' model built on the

principle of proportionate universalism could improve this situation, and reduce inequality across the gradient. A 'one stop shop' model can cover a number of different organisational structures, but the key point is that users can experience a relatively seamless interaction with the welfare system, accessed at the same geographical location or via the same digital platform, rather than having to 'shop around' for different forms of benefit and support (74). Hong Kong currently has a unique system by which 90% of its welfare services are provided by non-governmental organisations (NGOs), administering government funds (75).





Source: Oxfam (2018). Hong Kong Inequality Report (73)

WORKING FAMILY ALLOWANCE SCHEME

The Working Family Allowance (WFA) Scheme supports low-income working households who have longer working hours and are not receiving the CSSA, with the aim of encouraging self-reliance and easing intergenerational poverty. A household needs to meet certain working-hour requirements and income and asset limits to be eligible for the scheme. This scheme was first introduced in 2016 as the Low-income Working Family Allowance, but was renamed the Working Family Allowance Scheme in 2018. The government has implemented a number of improvements to the scheme over the past three years, including extending the scheme to cover one-person households and increasing the rates of allowance. As of December 2020, the scheme was covering 56,000 households, including over 180,000 individuals (76) (77). Additional support was provided to recipients of the WFA as part of the Anti-epidemic fund, a one-off special allowance equivalent to two-months of the WFA payments (78). This is discussed in greater detail in Section 5C of this report, alongside other governmental responses to the pandemic.

PENSION SYSTEM IN HONG KONG

The Hong Kong pension system is based on a four-pillar model and incorporates four of the five pillars that make up an ideal pension system according to the World Bank. The 'zero pillar' encompasses the Old Age Allowance where people over 70 years who meet specified residency requirements are funded directly by the government; the 'second pillar' consists of a mandatory, privatelymanaged, occupational scheme known as the Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF); the 'third pillar' refers to voluntary savings; and the 'fourth pillar' encompasses social help and is based on public services, personal assets and family support. Hong Kong does not have an equivalent of the 'first pillar', a contributory public pension 'social security' scheme (79). As outlined by Oxfam, there are 'loopholes' in the Hong Kong model which can consequently leave some older people vulnerable to poverty (73).

The MPF, first introduced in 2000, is the only compulsory saving scheme for retirement in Hong Kong. It involves a specified contribution to a saving scheme which covers both part-time and full-time employees between 18 and 64 years who have been employed for 60 or more days. Prior to the implementation of this scheme, only around a third of workers in Hong Kong had any form of retirement protection, according to the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority. However, as outlined in a paper by Wong (2012), the effectiveness of the MPF in alleviating poverty is limited. The MPF has particular problems addressing poverty amongst women, for a number of reasons. The MPF does not cover those who remain at home to do domestic work, a form of unpaid labour carried out more frequently by women. Women also make up a greater proportion of the working poor, for whom MPF contributions are not enough to provide sufficient protection in older age (80). Additionally, workers in casual employment, who are more likely to be women, are less likely to be engaged with the scheme. A study conducted by Oxfam in 2017 on lowincome casual work found that 75% of interviewees did not have MPF in place, and that 60% of casual workers in Hong Kong were women (73).

Based on the latest available data from the International Labour Organization (ILO), Hong Kong has a lower pension coverage for those above the statutory pensionable age when compared to other countries with similar levels of development, as shown in Figure 3.12. In most of the countries in Figure 3.12, 100% of the population aged above the statutory pensionable age receive a pension, whilst in Hong Kong 73% of the population above the statutory pensionable age receive.



Figure 3.12 Percentage of the population aged over the statutory pensionable age receiving a pension in Hong Kong and countries with a similar level of development, 2015 or latest available year

Source: International Labour Organization (2017). World Social Protection Report (2017-2019) (81)

This lack of government support for older people is a likely contributor to the high levels of poverty in older age: Oxfam has reported that one in every three older people in Hong Kong lives in poverty (73). This is especially likely to include the lifetime poor who will not have significant pension or other savings. Poverty puts older people at significant risk of poor health, during a period of life when medical costs are likely to be significant. Older people may be forced back into work that is unsuitable due to financial pressures, putting their health at risk. As will be discussed in the employment section below, workforce participation among older people has increased significantly in recent years. As Hong Kong has a rapidly aging population, this is likely to be a growing problem.

MINIMUM WAGE

A minimum wage, as defined by the ILO, is the 'minimum amount of renumeration that an employer is required to pay wage earners for the work performed during a given period, which cannot be reduced by collective agreement or an individual contract' (82). The minimum wage aims to protect workers from unduly low pay and has the potential of promoting 'equality by increasing workers' remuneration and improving the living conditions of those at the lower end of the wage distribution' (83).

In terms of health, a minimum wage has to be understood in the context of a minimum income for healthy living. This income needs to be sufficient to afford everything that is needed not just for survival, but for full engagement with society and for the maintenance of a healthy lifestyle. To put it another way, the minimum income is that which prevents individuals experiencing deprivation and its impacts on health.

In Hong Kong, a voluntary minimum wage scheme was introduced in 2006, but a statutory minimum wage did not follow until 2011, at which time it was set at HK\$28 (US\$3.60; GB£2.18 per hour). The minimum wage in Hong Kong is reviewed every two years. In May 2019, the statutory minimum wage in Hong Kong was raised to HK\$37.50 per hour, and it was announced in February 2021 that it would remain at that level until April 2023 (84) (85). The incremental rises in the minimum wage have merely kept up with inflation, and it is not sufficient alone to meet the basic needs of workers and their families, despite the launch of social welfare schemes such as the Working Family Allowance (WFA) (73). The Oxfam Hong Kong Inequality Report highlighted that the minimum wage rate is well below the level that would qualify for social support via the CSSA Scheme (73).

The minimum wage in Hong Kong is low in comparison to other developed countries, as can be seen in Figure 3.13. This is based on data from 2016, when the minimum wage in Hong Kong was HK\$32.50 (86).



Figure 3.13 Minimum hourly wage in Hong Kong and selected developed countries (US\$), 2016

Source: Oxfam (2018). Hong Kong Inequality Report (73)

Note: In 2016 the hourly wage in Hong Kong was HK\$32.50 (86) which is equivalent to just over US\$4

The low minimum wage has contributed to the development of a 'poor working class' in Hong Kong who rely on social schemes such as the WFA, which is targeted at those in lower-income working households who work particularly long hours (72) (87). In addition, the statutory minimum wage does not apply to the territory's almost 300,000 foreign domestic workers, who mainly come from the Philippines and Indonesia and are predominantly women (88) (60). These workers are subject to a separate Minimum Allowable Wage, currently

set at HK\$4,630 per month, with a food allowance of not less than HK\$1,121 per month if free food is not provided as part of the employment contract (89). It should be noted that multiple NGOs have previously alleged that the underpayment of foreign domestic workers, also called 'foreign domestic helpers' in Hong Kong, is widespread, alongside excessive working hours and other abuses (90) (91). As they are not permanent Hong Kong residents, they are also not eligible for many forms of social support including the CSSA (92) (70).

3C POVERTY

Poverty is an important driver of health inequities at every stage of life, with widespread negative impacts on health which accumulate throughout life. Living in poverty means having insufficient income to access a range of services and resources essential to health – including decent housing, sufficient nutritious food, resources for education, access to employment, health care and participation in social and community life.

Poverty is also stressful, and that stress has a direct effect on mental and physical health, and has measurable effects on brain development in children (93). Long-term stress responses are associated with increased risk of disease like diabetes and ischaemic heart disease (94). The cognitive load of this stress may also reduce the 'mental bandwidth' available for other decision-making, resulting in behaviour that worsens health in the long run (95) (96). Those in relative poverty may therefore be more vulnerable to ill health, and if they do become ill, often face greater barriers to accessing healthcare (97). In Hong Kong in 2019, 21.4% of the population were living in poverty. Poverty here is as defined by the Hong Kong Commission on Poverty, 'based on the concept of "relative poverty" and set at 50% of the median monthly household income before policy intervention (i.e. before taxation and social welfare transfer)' (68).

As outlined by Lau et al. (2014), poverty is a significant cause of poor health in Hong Kong. 18% of all adults reported that lack of money had affected their health in the the Poverty and Social Exclusion in Hong Kong (PSEHK) 2013 Living Standards Survey. The same proportion felt that their poor health had impacted their financial situation. The high cost of health care and out-of-pocket health expenditures have been cited as causes of poverty and financial hardship in Hong Kong. Drawing on these findings, the authors suggested that, in Hong Kong, there appears to be a multifaceted relation between health and poverty - i.e. poverty is a cause of poor health and being in poor health can also cause poverty (98).

A study in 2016 found that Chinese adults in Hong Kong living in lower-income households had poorer health-related quality of life than the general population (99). Specifically, having a household income of less than 50% of the median was independently associated with worse mental and physical health, even after adjusting for sociodemographic characteristics and co-morbidities (99). Figure 3.14 shows that that the population living below the Hong Kong poverty line had lower scores in all of the Short Form Health Survey version 2 subscale scores (SF-12v2), used to measure health-related quality of life and covering a range of physical and mental health outcomes, when compared to the age-gender matched general population. Lower scores indicate poorer health-related quality of life.



Figure 3.14 Comparison of health-related quality of life (HRQOL) measures between households living below HK\$10,000/month (i.e. the poverty line) compared to the age-gender matched general population in Hong Kong



Source: Lam et al. (2016). Poverty and health-related quality of life of people living in Hong Kong: Comparison of individuals from low-income families and the general population (99)

Note: The health-rated quality of life (HRQOL) measures are selected indicators from the 12-item Short-Form Health Survey version 2 (SF-12v2) subscale. The scoring range of the SF-12v2 subscale ranges from 0 to 100 where higher scores indicate better HRQOL. Scores were significantly lower in the <HK\$10,000/month group in all of the measures with the exception of the 'role emotional' measure.

CHILD POVERTY

Positive experiences during early life affect cognitive development, educational attainment, employment and income, wellbeing and mental and physical health throughout the life course. Positive experiences in the early years relate to how nurturing the environments in which the child grows are and access to quality services to support young children and their families. Both these relate in part to the availability of social, economic and other resources (100). Across the world, evidence shows that there are clear inequalities in cognitive development during the earliest years, and without intervention, these inequalities tend to widen through childhood (17). Eliminating child poverty is therefore crucial for reducing inequalities and improving the health of society. Figures from 2019, the latest available, show a worsening of child poverty in Hong Kong since 2018, reversing some of the improvement seen since 2009. This refers to children living in poor households, with an income below 50% of the median. Between 2018 and 2019 child poverty rates increased, both the rate before policy intervention, and that after. This can be seen in Figure 3.15. As reported in the Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019, the worsening of the child poverty situation is associated with the significant increase in the number of working poor families (68).

Figure 3.15 Percentage of children in poverty in Hong Kong pre-intervention and post recurrent cash policy intervention, 2009-2019



Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2019). Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (66)

When compared to other countries of similar development levels, Hong Kong had the second highest poverty rate amongst children under 18 years old, after taxation and welfare intervention, just behind the United States of America.





Source: Hong Kong data from Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (66). Data for other countries from OECD Poverty rate (indicator) (101).

Note: OECD definition of poverty rate is 'the ratio of the number of people (in a given age group) whose income falls below the poverty line; taken as half the median household income of the total population' (68). This has been converted to percentage for the above graph. The Hong Kong poverty rate is based on the rate post policy intervention. Data for the Netherlands is provisional, from 2016; for Denmark and the USA 2017; Norway, Germany, France, Australia 2018; all others 2019.
Despite the increase in the child poverty rate in Hong Kong, the Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 did also note that there was an increase in the poverty alleviation on children from policy measures in 2019, when compared to 2018, i.e. there was a 0.6 percentage point increase in the poverty alleviation due to recurrent cash programmes between these years (68). This was on account of the WFA, which lowered the child poverty rate by 2.0 percentage points; and education benefits, which lowered the poverty rate by 1.2 percentage points in 2019, as shown in Figure 3.17. It should be noted that poverty alleviation cannot be directly measured, so these figures are based on a theoretical model of preintervention poverty.

Figure 3.17 Percentage point reduction in the child poverty rate due to selected recurrent cash programmes in Hong Kong, 2018-2019



Source: Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (2019). Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

A study in 2018 evaluating the effectiveness of welfare schemes relevant either directly or indirectly to the reduction of child poverty found that all four of the schemes included - the CSSA, the Public Rental Housing (PRH) Scheme, the Community Care Fund (CCF) and the Student Allowance (SA) Scheme - were relatively ineffective in reducing child poverty. These programmes provided insufficient coverage, and, where they were available, resulted in little benefit. As well as proving ineffective at tackling child poverty, all but the CSSA were found to be inefficient: in other words, as well as failing to lift children out of poverty, these programmes, with the exception of the CSSA, did not represent good value for money in making the attempt (102).

Figure 3.18 below illustrates how these benefits were distributed among poor households with children. We can see that 80% of benefits delivered to these families were in the form of SA or PRH. Although the CSSA represents better value for money in reducing child poverty, only around 16% of benefits were delivered via this programme.



Figure 3.18 Distribution of welfare programme benefits received by poor households with children, 2018

Source: Cheung et al. (2018). Evaluating the Effectiveness and Efficiency of Hong Kong Welfare Programmes in Reducing Child Poverty (102)

The PRH Scheme appeared to be the most effective of the schemes at reducing child poverty, as shown in Figure 3.19, with 87.2% of poor households receiving this benefit being brought above the poverty line, compared to 10.5% of those households receiving the CSSA scheme. However, the CSSA is a highly means-tested benefit, only available to the very poorest, and is therefore ineffective by virtue of its exclusionary nature: it cannot lift many families out of poverty, both because it is only offered to a few, and because they are sunk the deepest in poverty to begin with. The CSSA actually had the greatest effectiveness in closing the poverty gap for the families who received it, but they were still poor afterwards simply because they had been so poor before. As we have noted above, a further problem is that few who are eligible actually apply, due to stigma and administrative hurdles. The PRH in contrast, which is a form of housing benefit in kind, is very widely offered and is therefore inefficient for poverty alleviation due to its inclusive nature. This is understandable as it used for other purposes than housing the poorest, for example rehousing displaced residents during rebuilding projects. Although the PRH brings more families above the poverty line than the CSSA, it is much less effective at closing the poverty gap. If coming above the poverty line is the finish line, then it is crucial to understand that the two populations served by these programmes do not start at the same starting point, as recipients of the CSSA are much poorer on average.

Figure 3.19 Percentage of poor households with children receiving benefits who were brought above the poverty line by welfare programme type, 2018



Source: Cheung et al. (2018). Evaluating the Effectiveness and Efficiency of Hong Kong Welfare Programmes in Reducing Child Poverty (102)

IN-WORK POVERTY

Paid employment can represent a way out of poverty, but only if the wages and working conditions are sufficient to support an adequate standard of living (98) (103). Productive employment i.e. 'employment yielding sufficient returns to labour to permit the worker and her/his dependents a level of consumption above the poverty line' is essential to reduce poverty and ensure sustainable social and economic development (104) (105). The absence of such employment can give rise to 'working poverty'. Working poverty is an issue in Hong Kong. Close to one in four of those living in poverty in Hong Kong are poor despite being in fulltime employment, as shown in Figure 3.20, according to a report by Lau et al. (98). This report, which was based on the results of the PSEHK Living Standards Survey 2013, described a 'considerable problem' with low-paying jobs in Hong Kong (98).



Figure 3.20 Distribution of economic activity status by poverty group in Hong Kong, 2013

Source: Lau et al. (2014). Social Exclusion in Hong Kong: Findings from the 2013 Living Standard Survey (98)

According to the Poverty Situation Report in Hong Kong (2019), working households make up around 35% of the poor households in Hong Kong who are not receiving the CSSA. Figure 3.21 shows that the poverty rate for working households not receiving the CSSA (both pre-

and post-intervention) had increased in 2019 when compared to the previous year. The interventions in this case comprised all other recurrent cash interventions apart from the CSSA, for example the Old Age Living Allowance, Disability Allowance or WFA.





Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

The poverty rate was highest amongst households with only one working member, for whom it increased by one percentage point from 2018 to 2019, whilst the poverty rate for households with 2 or 3 or more working members stayed the same or decreased, as shown in Figure 3.22.

Figure 3.23 shows that over half of the increase in working poor households in Hong Kong in 2019 were amongst households with 4 or more people. Most of these household were households with children (68).

Figure 3.22 Poverty rate by number of working members in households in Hong Kong, 2018-2019



Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

Figure 3.23 Distribution of the increase in working poor households in Hong Kong by household size, 2019



Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68) *Note:* Poverty statistics refer to statistics before policy intervention (purely theoretical assumption).

POVERTY AMONG POPULATION AGED 65 AND OLDER

Due to its high life expectancy and low fertility rate, Hong Kong has a rapidly ageing population. In 2016, the Census and Statistics Department projected that between 2018 and 2038 the population of older people would almost double: from 1.27 million to 2.44 million, and from 18% of the total population to 32%. Approximately one third of people will be 65 or older by 2038 (57).

Those aged 65 and over make up the bulk of those with the

lowest income in Hong Kong. The Office of the Government Economist has reported that older households in Hong Kong tend to save less compared with working households (57). Figure 3.24 shows that the absolute number of people aged over 65 years in poverty before policy intervention has been increasing since 2009 (68). The number of persons in poverty post-intervention has also risen. The poverty rate post-intervention amongst persons over 65 years had slightly declined between 2010 and 2015, but has increased since then, and in 2019 the poverty rate post-intervention was 32%, compared to 31% in the previous year. This may be related to the inadequacy of the pension system as described above in the section on welfare.



Figure 3.24 Number and percentage of those aged 65 and over in poverty in Hong Kong, 2009-2019

Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

The number of poor people aged 65 years and over has been consistently increasing, both before and after recurrent cash intervention, as shown in Figure 3.25. There have been some variations in the number of poor in the other age groups, i.e. those aged 18 years and under and those 18 – 64 years between 2009 and 2019, however, both of these groups have seen increases in the poor population over the most recent years.





Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

Between 2009 and 2019, the poverty rate both before and after recurrent cash policy intervention was consistently higher amongst over-65s than either working-age or young people, as shown in Figure 3.26.

Whilst the reduction in poverty rates following recurrent cash intervention were most appreciable in this population aged 65 years and over, the rate of poverty was still highest amongst this age group.





Source: Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019 (68)

3D INEQUALITIES IN EDUCATION IN HONG KONG

Educational attainment has a close relationship with health, and inequalities in attainment translate into inequalities in health. Higher educational attainment can also lead to lower rates of unemployment, greater income and improved socioeconomic position, with attendant effects on health. Conversely, pre-existing inequalities can impact the ability of individuals to continue in education (17).

Educational attainment is highly differentiated by age cohort in Hong Kong – with the majority of those who did not attend primary school born before the 1940s. Conversely, among those who had progressed beyond secondary education the majority were born in the 1970s or later. This process has been aided by the launch of nine years of free, compulsory education in 1978.

As a result of these trends in education, there are strong generational differences in the extent to which educational

inequalities have influenced subsequent inequalities in life chances and health outcomes. While this has meant that the numbers in relative disadvantage in old age is currently considerable, the proportion of people entering old age with secondary education or higher has increased year on year. This can be seen in Figure 3.27, which also shows generational differences in education by gender: women have lower educational attainment than men in all age groups, although this is less marked in younger age cohorts.

Figure 3.27 Educational attainment distribution in each age group at ages 65 and over by gender in Hong Kong, 2016



Post secondary Secondary Primary No schooling/pre-primary

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census thematic Report: Older Persons (106).



Despite education being free for children in Hong Kong, there are significant inequalities in access to the resources and activities integral to the education and social development of children. A significantly higher proportion of poor children are deprived of access to educational resources and activities than non-poor children. 34% of poor children are deprived of educational resources (which include educational games, outdoor leisure equipment, books, or a computer with internet connection) compared to 1% of non-poor. 41% of poor children are deprived of educational activities (including school trips, tutoring and extra-curricular activities), while 0% of non-poor children are (98). This is indicative of a marked divide in access to education. This divide in early years can have significant knock-on effects on educational attainment, social mobility and propagates lifelong social, economic and health inequalities.

Figure 3.28 shows that, in the population aged 15 years and over, the level of educational attainment tends to increase with increasing income decile group. For example, the most deprived income decile groups are more likely to have primary education as their highest level of educational attainment when compared to the higher income decile groups, and the proportion of people with a post-secondary education tends to increase with each increasing income decile.

Figure 3.28 Educational attainment distribution in each income decile at ages 15 and over in Hong Kong (excluding foreign domestic workers), 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

3E INEQUALITIES IN EMPLOYMENT IN HONG KONG

Patterns of employment both reflect and reinforce the social gradient in health. Those lower in social level find it harder to get into work, and when they do, the work is more likely to be low-paying, insecure, dangerous, stressful, and offer lower satisfaction – all of which damage physical and mental health. Unemployment is also bad for health: associated with increased morbidity and mortality (17). These result from financial problems leading to material deprivation; from increased psycho-social stress and its attendant effects on health; and from poorer health behaviours as a result of unemployment. Having a paid job is a crucial determinant of household income, and is most important for those for whom it offers the possibility of moving out of poverty, and escaping its attendant health inequalities. Good quality work can also thereby break the transmission of intergenerational inequalities

Figure 3.29 shows that the labour force participation rate among men and women aged 65 years and over has increased between 2011 and 2016. This may be partly inevitable in the context of an ageing population, and can have both beneficial and negative effects on health inequalities. Employment is broadly good for health, but this needs to be good, secure work. If, conversely,

older people are being forced back into insecure, lowpaid work by financial need and inadequate retirement protection, then this is likely to have negative effects on their health. In 2019/20 unemployment has increased amongst all age groups as a result of the COVID-19 pandemic, set out in Section 5.



Figure 3.29 Labour force participation rate of people aged 65 and over by gender in 2006, 2011 and 2016

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Older Persons (106)

Table 3.1 shows a breakdown by age group and gender in labour force participation among those aged 65 and over who are still in employment. The greatest increases have come from 65 to 74-year-olds. This may reflect an increase in demand for workers, due to an ageing population, or in supply, due to healthier, more highly-skilled older workers being able to continue or return to work. On the other hand, it may also reflect increased risks of poverty forcing people back into work at older ages, given the high levels of older people in poverty noted above.



Table 3.1 Labour force participation rates of older persons by gender and age in 2006, 2011 and 2016

		Labour Force Participation Rates of Older Persons		
Year		2006 (percent)	2011 (percent)	2016 (percent)
Gender	Age			
Male	65 - 74	15.8	18.3	28.5
	75 - 84	5.7	3.9	6.3
	85+	3.2	2	0.6
	Sub-total	11.6	11.5	8.3
Female	65 - 74	4.5	5.7	9.51
	75 - 84	1.8	1.1	1
	85+	1.3	0.3	0
	Sub-total	3.1	3	5.1
Persons	65 - 74	10.2	12.2	19
	75 - 84	3.5	2.4	3.5
	85+	1.9	0.9	0.2
	Total	7	7	11.2

Source: Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region (106)

Figure 3.30 shows that those working in elementary occupations are concentrated in the lower income deciles, while those working in managerial or administrative positions are more likely to be in higher income groups. This has relevance for health as elementary employment is less beneficial for health than managerial and administrative employment (58). It can

be difficult to distinguish the health effects of certain kinds of employment from those otherwise related to income via, for example, housing and neighbourhoods. Nonetheless, the differential risk of exposure to COVID-19 infection is one example of how ill health is associated with different employment, resulting in a higher risk for those in elementary occupations (19).

Figure 3.30 Percentage of the working population (excluding foreign domestic workers) in elementary and managerial and administrative occupations in each income decile in Hong Kong, 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

Note: Elementary occupations include 'street vendors; domestic helpers and cleaners; messengers; security guards; watchmen; freight handlers; lift operators; construction labourers; hand packers; agricultural and fishery labourers'.

3F INEQUALITIES IN LIVING CONDITIONS IN HONG KONG

The environment in which people live is a major determinant of their health. Environmental factors such as clean air, adequate water, a stable climate and access to green spaces and health-supportive housing and built environments are all pre-requisites for good health (107). In 2016, 24% of deaths globally were associated with living or working in an unhealthy environment (108). Health is also affected by the neighbourhoods in which we live: their green spaces, traffic levels, public transport and cycling infrastructure, and sources of community support.

Exposure to environmental health risk factors, such as air pollution and hazardous waste, are often unequally distributed amongst populations, with more socially deprived groups being more likely to be exposed to such risk factors (109). As well as physical harm caused by poor living conditions and environments, poor quality environments are damaging to mental health and wellbeing. Being constantly exposed to inadequate, dilapidated housing and a poorly built environment can cause stress that can adversely affect the mental health of residents and contribute to symptoms of anxiety and depression (110). Remedying inequalities in living environments has to take into account planning for equitable and healthy communities.

Research shows that less affluent populations are more exposed to environmental health risks, whether in their homes – including biological and chemical contamination; tobacco smoke; noise; and extremes of temperature - or in their neighbourhoods – including traffic pollution and hazardous waste sites. More deprived individuals are also less likely to live in good-quality housing and in communities with high social capital. They live in areas with higher rates of crime, and reduced access to amenities like good public transport and green spaces that allow for and encourage healthier lifestyles. They may also lack the resources and capabilities to mitigate these risks to good health.

Stable, affordable housing is a foundation for healthy living and community engagement, all of which are made more difficult for disadvantaged communities (111). Research shows the strong connections between housing including the physical quality of the living environment and the tenure arrangement—and physical and mental health (112). Insecure tenures can be a risk to health: as well as the increased stress associated with insecurity, residents are also at risk of eviction and homelessness, or of sudden increases in rent, both of which can have significant knock-on health effects. Housing construction can provide employment and contribute to economic and social growth, with associated health benefits. As noted above, Hong Kong has some of the most unaffordable housing in the world. Not only does this increase the risk of homelessness and overcrowding, it also reduces the amount of money left from income after housing costs, thus increasing the risk of deprivation of other essentials and causes stress, depression and anxiety. It must also be noted that access to housing alone without being assured access to decent work or a stable income does not diminish household poverty (113).

HOUSING

Low quality housing has a negative impact on health and can increase the risk of a wide range of communicable and non-communicable diseases, including cardiovascular disease, respiratory illnesses and mental health problems (114) (115). Cold and damp homes that lack good insulation, ventilation and heating contribute to circulatory and respiratory diseases and poorer mental health (116).

Poorly ventilated homes can also lead to excess heat, which has its own health issues. Heatwaves, which are projected to increase due to climate change, can cause death by heat-related illnesses, and increase hospitalisations and deaths for those who already have chronic illnesses (117). Social inequality exacerbates this risk - as we have seen, those with chronic disease, who are at greater risk, are more likely to be of lower socioeconomic position; outdoor and manual workers are at greater risk; the displaced and homeless are also at greater risk; and the more deprived are more likely to live in overcrowded homes without adequate cooling (117).

Poor housing conditions have a long-term impact on the health of children, increasing the risk of severe ill-health or disability during childhood and early adulthood by up to 25% (118). Children in poor housing conditions are also more likely to develop mental health problems like anxiety and depression; respiratory problems; slowed physical growth; and delayed cognitive development (119). These adverse outcomes relate both to the direct effects of poor-quality housing, and its associated deprivation. There is evidence that variation in housing quality can affect the educational development of children and young people, and that children living in precarious housing conditions have lower rates of enrolment, attendance and performance at school (120). In addition to education, housing also impacts on other social determinants of health, such as economic opportunities and social cohesion; inequalities in these determinants contribute to inequalities in health in later life (121).

According to an article by Leung et al. (2020), almost half of the population in Hong Kong live in either public rental housing or subsidized ownership housing. Yip (2020) highlighted that subdivided units, small units within a converted flat, are in high demand amongst low-income households (122). In 2020, over 110,000 households and over 225,000 individuals, 16% of whom were under 15 years old, were living in subdivided units, which are often overcrowded and in poor condition (122) (123).

OVERCROWDING

People who live in overcrowded housing are more likely than those with more space to experience respiratory problems and infections. Children living in overcrowded housing are up to 10 times more likely to contract bacterial meningitis, for example, than those in uncrowded homes (119) (124). Living in overcrowded conditions also increases the risk of COVID-19 infection during the pandemic, as distancing and isolation becomes difficult or impossible (20).

Figure 3.31 shows that those in public rental housing generally have less space available to them, while those in private housing, particularly in larger households, have more space.

Figure 3.31 Median per capita floor area of accommodation by household size and type of housing in Hong Kong, 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census (125) Note: Figures exclude domestic households living in unsheltered accommodation or on board vessels. Floor area of common area shared among households is excluded.

TYPE OF HOUSING

Satisfaction arising from having access to home ownership opportunities has been shown to be linked to better emotional outcomes. In the United Kingdom, there is evidence that homeowners weathered COVID-19 lockdown measures without reduction in wellbeing, while private and social renters, who already reported lower wellbeing than homeowners, saw their wellbeing drop further, exacerbating inequalities (126). Availability of quality social housing stock with secure tenures is key in reducing income inequalities and addressing poor health outcomes associated with poor and unfit housing and overcrowding. Those in income deciles 2-4 in Hong Kong are more likely to live in public rental housing than in private permanent housing, or subsidised home ownership. Those in deciles 5-10 are more likely to live in private permanent housing than other types of housing. Approximately 20% of the population in the lowest income decile and those in deciles 6-8 live in subsidised home ownership housing, as shown in Figure 3.32.

Figure 3.32 Distribution of domestic households within each income decile by type of housing, 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

HOUSING AFFORDABILITY

As one of the most densely populated places in the world, Hong Kong suffers from severe housing affordability problems (127). In 2020, the affordability ratio of Hong Kong was the highest in the world at 20.7, meaning that the median cost of a dwelling in Hong Kong is 20.7 times the annual median pre-tax household income. In comparison, the ratios were 8.6 in London, 5.9 in New York and 4.7 in Singapore (128).

There is evidence for an association between housing affordability and poorer self-rated health, physical conditions and mental health in Hong Kong. A study in 2019 found that the less affordable housing was in Hong Kong, the poorer physical and mental health was. Relative deprivation in terms of necessities (the ability of respondents to afford items considered to be essential to most adults in Hong Kong) had a mediating role between the affordability of housing and health, i.e. deprivation mediated 34% of the impact of housing affordability on physical health and 16% of the impact on mental health. This study concluded that tackling the problem of unaffordable housing would be a means to improving the health of Hong Kong's population (129). A further effect of high housing costs is to reduce the money available for other things that can contribute to good mental and physical health, including nutritious food; socialising; travel costs for work and education, and other essential household items (130).

The high price of housing in Hong Kong makes home ownership unobtainable for many, although the government is heavily involved in the housing market with close to 50% of the population living in public housing (131). Rent for public housing is subsidized and there is the Rent Assistance Scheme which provides rent relief to those in public rental housing who are facing financial difficulties (132). Specifically, this scheme offers 25% or 50% rent reductions to eligible households. However, the average waiting time for public housing in Hong Kong is around 5.8 years as of June 2021, indicating a severe shortage of such housing (133). At the same time, the share of public expenditure on housing has halved over the past 22 years to 5% in 2019-2020, suggesting that shortages will continue to be an issue and likely worsen (66).

Figure 3.33 shows that the median ratio of housing costs to household income decreased with increasing income decile, with the exception of deciles 9 and 10 where the ratio was higher than deciles 6-8. This is possibly because housing costs for those in deciles 9 and 10 are very high compared with those in deciles 3-8. The lowest income decile group had the highest median ratio of housing costs compared to all other decile groups and this ratio was over double that of the ratio for the highest income decile group. Households with smaller incomes are more likely to contain a greater proportion of people who have no employment income and are likely to spend more of their limited income on fixed costs such as housing.

Figure 3.33 Median housing cost as a percentage of household income (excluding foreign domestic workers) in Hong Kong, by income decile group, 2016



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong (60).

Lack of affordable housing also leads to homelessness. Homeless families, and especially homeless children, are three to four times more likely to suffer from poor mental health, even one year after being rehoused, than those living in good quality tenured housing (134). As Figure 3.34 shows, after a steep decline in the first few years of the twenty-first century, the number of homeless persons (referring to street sleepers counted in the Street Sleepers Registry) per 100,000 population in Hong Kong has grown since 2007 and stood at 17 per 100,000 in 2018 (135).

ENVIRONMENT

Worldwide, the WHO attributes an estimated 4.2 million deaths a year to ambient air pollution, and a further 3.8 million premature deaths to indoor household pollution (136). One study estimated that 8,500 deaths in Hong Kong in 2017 were attributable to some form of pollution: 4,200 due to ambient air pollution from solid fuels; 3,300 due to ambient particulate matter; 800 due to household solid fuel pollution; and another 200 due to ambient ozone (137).

A 2018 study into air pollution found that those living in more socially deprived areas of Hong Kong were more likely to be exposed to higher concentrations of PM2.5, fine atmospheric particulates, than those living in the least socially deprived areas (138). Exposure to PM2.5 particulates has been linked to respiratory and cardiovascular morbidity and mortality: children, older people and those with preexisting disease are at particular risk (139).

Green spaces are important to public health, with evidence suggesting that they can have beneficial health outcomes including improving mental health, reducing stress and promoting physical activity. A study was conducted by Xu et al. (2017) to investigate the association between green spaces and adult mortality in Hong Kong (140). The study found that there was an association between greater arealevel green space and lower mortality from diabetes, chronic respiratory disease and cardiovascular disease. It was also found that this association was generally stronger for those living in low socioeconomic areas when compared to those in higher socioeconomic areas. From this it was concluded that the provision of green spaces could potentially help to reduce mortality and could also contribute to reducing disparities in mortality related to socioeconomic position.

Figure 3.34 Number of homeless persons per 100,000 population in Hong Kong, 2000-2018



Source: Social Indicators of Hong Kong (2020). Homeless persons per 100,000 population (135).

CHAPTER 4 HEALTHCARE AND HEALTH BEHAVIOURS

50 BUILD BACK FAIRER: REDUCING SOCIOECONOMIC INEQUALITIES IN HEALTH IN HONG KONG



4A INEQUALITIES IN ACCESS TO HEALTHCARE

Inequality in access to healthcare is an issue in Hong Kong. A survey in 2014/15 found that, during the previous year, 8% of the 2,233 survey respondents had not sought medical care for financial reasons (141). These respondents were more likely to: be income-poor; have higher levels of stress and anxiety; have poorer physical and mental health; and experience more severe disability and pain affecting their daily activities, than the general population of Hong Kong.

Hong Kong has a dual public-private healthcare system: the vast majority of inpatient services are provided by the public sector which is tax-funded with low additional fees at the point of care, but primary care is largely provided by the private sector (over 70% market share) with substantial fees at the point of care (142). These fees may make primary care less accessible, which is critical as primary care has both preventative and treatment roles, and acts as a point of entry for the rest of the healthcare system.

A 2019 study concluded that those in Hong Kong who are income-poor and in deprived groups are less likely to have access to regular primary healthcare, irrespective of their burden of chronic disease or other sociodemographic factors (39). Primary healthcare in this study included both 'western allopathic medicine' and 'traditional Chinese medicine'. People who were older, less educated, income-poor, more deprived and had higher multimorbidity were more likely to seek primary care in the public sector. The quality of primary care varies between the public and private sectors. The same study found that private services often had better availability of appointments, were in more convenient locations, and, unlike the public sector, allowed patients to choose their service providers and concluded that 'despite Hong Kong's healthcare policy that no one shall be denied adequate healthcare due to lack of means in the public healthcare sector, primary care is found to be pro-rich' (141).

A 2009 study found that, amongst older people not living in a care home, those with lower incomes had a lower total use of healthcare services than their higher-income counterparts. This is despite higher healthcare needs being associated with lower socioeconomic position. From this, it was concluded that there is a mismatch in the need and supply of healthcare and that an 'inverse care law' (i.e. 'where the availability of good medical care varies inversely with the need of the population served') exists for older people in Hong Kong (143) (144).



As shown in Figure 4.1, close to half of the population (47%) were neither entitled to medical benefits provided by employers/companies nor covered by individually purchased medical insurance. As a result, individuals

must choose whether to pay from savings or income, which the poor will struggle to do; to fall into debt by borrowing to pay medical bills; or to go without medical care at all.

Figure 4.1 Distribution of population by type of entitlement to medical benefits (whether provided by employers/companies or by individually purchased medical insurance) in Hong Kong, 2019



Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Thematic Household Survey Report No. 68 (145)

Those who are not covered by medical benefits who require specialist outpatient treatment must rely on publicly funded services that are overstretched, with resulting very long waiting lists. The longest waiting time for stable new patients at specialist outpatient clinics in 2020/2021 were up to 148 weeks for Ear, Nose, Throat; 134 weeks for Eye; 149 weeks for Medicine; 139 weeks for Orthopaedics & Traumatology; and 122 weeks for Surgery (146). The government of Hong Kong has recently launched a Voluntary Health Insurance Scheme to encourage more people to take out health insurance and relieve some of the pressure on public healthcare provision. This scheme sets minimum standards for insurance policies, which are then tax-deductible (147). However, private insurance is likely to remain out of the grasp of the less well-off who do not pay enough tax to benefit from the deduction. Even if this programme does free up capacity in public healthcare and reduce some waiting times, it may further exacerbate the divisions of a two-tier system.

4B INEQUALITIES IN HEALTHY BEHAVIOURS

It is well-known that a poor diet and lack of exercise can contribute to obesity and the metabolic syndrome, and so increase the risk of diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, and many forms of cancer. The majority of cases of lung cancer and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease occur in smokers. However, this only tells part of the story. Again, we have to look at the causes of the causes.

Why is it that risky and unhealthy behaviours also follow a social gradient? We might consider whether it is harder to get exercise when you live in a run-down part of town without green spaces, and do not have the money to spare for an expensive gym; whether the affordable alcohol and cigarettes might be more attractive to someone in a high-demand, low-control job that they constantly fear losing; whether a single parent, tired from their shift at a second job may not be so easily able to construct a healthy home-cooked meal for their family; whether a young person with no prospects might sufficiently discount future benefit so as to take risks now. The list could continue at great length. The conclusion is that providing information about healthy choices is insufficient to tackle the risks of unhealthy behaviour if you do not also work to reduce the inequalities that predispose people lower on the socioeconomic gradient to make risky decisions.

SMOKING

Of the population aged over 15 years, 17.9% reported having ever smoked. The proportion of persons who had ever smoked was higher for men (31.7%) than women (5.4%), as shown in Figure 4.2.

Percent 100 90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0 Women Men Persons Ever smokers Never smokers

Figure 4.2 Distribution of persons aged over 15 years who have ever smoked by gender, 2018-2019

Source: Non-communicable Diseases Branch Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Report of Health Behaviour Survey 2018/2019 (149)

Slightly more than 70% of those who had ever smoked were current smokers, making up 11.1% of the total over-15 population of Hong Kong. The majority of those were daily cigarette smokers, making up 92% of current smokers and 10.2% of the total over-15 population (148).

Figure 4.3 shows that among population who had ever smoked, the majority of those aged under 75 in 2018/19 were current while those aged 75 and over were more likely to be past smokers than current smokers.



Figure 4.3 Distribution of persons who had ever smoked in each age group, by whether or not currently smoking, 2018/2019



Source: Non-communicable Disease Branch Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Report of Health Behaviour Survey 2018/2019 (149)

Figure 4.4 shows that the proportion of the population who are daily cigarette smokers has been decreasing from 15% in 1998 to 10% in 2019, one of the lowest rates in the world. Researchers at the University of Hong Kong have claimed that the low smoking prevalence is the single most important factor in Hong Kong's long life expectancy (150). As this research has not yet been published, it will be addressed in a future report.





Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Thematic Household Survey Report No. 70: Pattern of smoking (148)

Evidence of socioeconomic inequalities in smoking in Hong Kong is mixed. In 2019, an evidence review by Ho et al. found that living in public housing, being economically disadvantaged, and being a new immigrant were all associated with an increased likelihood of ever having smoked amongst adolescents (151). However, a paper in 2021 found that, amongst secondary school students in Hong Kong, more affluent students were more likely to have ever used nicotine products and to be current users, and were also more likely to remain users, as measured by the current-ever use ratio. This was true for cigarettes, and even more so for more novel nicotine products like e-cigarettes. Poor students were more likely to smoke than the averagely well-off, although less than the affluent, and students with lower parental education were also more likely to smoke, resulting in a slightly complex picture (152). It is likely that affordability and cultural cachet, especially with vaping products, is affecting the relationship between socioeconomic position and smoking in Hong Kong.

BEING OVERWEIGHT AND OBESE

Based on data from the Population Health Survey 2014/2015, 50% of the population aged 15-84 years are considered to be overweight or obese as defined by a Body Mass Index (BMI) of \geq 23kg/m² (the threshold used for being overweight or obese for Hong Kong and other countries in Asia) (24). As indicated in Figure 4.5, a higher proportion of men than women are overweight or obese, in every age group in this age range except ages 65-84.





Source: Surveillance and Epidemiology Branch Centre for Health Protection Department of Health. Report of Population Health Survey 2014/2015 (24).

Notes: HK definition Underweight Normal Overweight Obese 1 Obese 2

 Lower limit
 Upper limit

 18.5kg/m²

 18.5kg/m²
 23.0kg/m²

 23.0kg/m²
 25.0kg/m²

 25.0kg/m²
 30.0kg/m²

International definition

Underweight (shown in blue)

Normal (shown in shades of green)

Overweight (shown in grey) Obese (shown in black) A study by Wang et al. (2017) which investigated the prevalence of being overweight in Hong Kong Chinese children found that the overall prevalence of being overweight amongst children in Hong Kong was 19.9%. Specifically, the proportion of boys who were considered overweight was higher than girls - 24% compared to 16% respectively. The study also found that lower maternal education and lower monthly incomes were significantly associated with being overweight amongst Hong Kong children (153).

As shown in Figure 4.6, the proportions of the population considered to be overweight (BMI = $23-24.9 \text{ kg/m}^2$) and obese (BMI ≥ 25 kg/m²) do not conform to a clear, simple socioeconomic pattern, with lower rates at the extremes of income. Considerations of socioeconomic gradients in weight must also take into account the risks of being underweight, which is more common in the lower-income groups. It should be noted that this data is not available broken down by gender, and it has been found elsewhere that the social gradient in weight is more pronounced among women. In Hong Kong, Chung et al. (2021) found that women with lower educational attainment had higher levels of hypertension (high blood pressure) and diabetes, and that this was mediated significantly by obesity, but did not find the same pattern amongst men (154).

Figure 4.6 Distribution of BMI categories in adults (15-84 years) by monthly household income (HK\$), 2014/2015



Source: Surveillance and Epidemiology Branch Centre for Health Protection Department of Health. Report of Population Health Survey 2014/2015 (24).

Notes:	HK definition	Lower limit	Upper limit	
	Underweight	-	18.5kg/m ²	
	Normal	18.5kg/m ²	23.0kg/m ²)
	Overweight	23.0kg/m ²	25.0kg/m ²	J
	Obese 1	25.0kg/m ²	30.0kg/m ²	
	Obese 2	30.0kg/m ²	-	

International definition Underweight (shown in blue) Normal (shown in shades of green)

Overweight (shown in grey) Obese (shown in black) Obesity is a risk factor for many diseases, particularly diabetes. In 2015, diabetes was the tenth leading cause of death in Hong Kong. Data from the Population Health Survey 2014/2015 indicates that 8% of persons aged 15-84 years had diabetes. This includes those who had either been previously diagnosed or who had diabetes without any known history of the disease. A higher proportion of men had diabetes compared to women, i.e. 11% compared to 6%, and the prevalence increased with age, with over a quarter of persons aged 65-84 years having diabetes, compared to less than 1% in the 15-34 age group (24).

HEALTH LITERACY AND ACCESS TO INFORMATION

Good health literacy and being able to access, appraise and apply health information are important to health. These abilities support individuals in making 'judgements and decisions in everyday life concerning healthcare, disease prevention and health promotion to maintain or improve quality of life during the life course'. Poor health literacy has been found to be associated with making less healthy choices; engaging in riskier behaviour; having poorer health; and experiencing higher levels of hospitalization (155). Inequality in health communication, 'the difference in accessing, seeking, processing and acting on information between different groups in society,' has been proposed as one contributing mechanism to health inequalities (156).

There is evidence to suggest that health informationseeking behaviours are socially patterned and can be influenced by factors such as financial resources, education, socioeconomic position and ethnicity. A study by Wang et al. (2013) investigated the health informationseeking behaviours and the social determinants of these amongst Chinese adults in Hong Kong. Whilst 1% of respondents sought health information at least monthly, there were also socioeconomic inequalities and behavioural clustering of health information-seeking behaviours amongst respondents. Lower household income and having a lower level of educational attainment were associated with less frequent health information seeking behaviours. Being female, a nonsmoker and of older age were associated with frequent health information seeking, whilst being a smoker and physically inactive were associated with infrequent health information-seeking behaviour (156).

CHAPTER 5 COVID-19



5A COVID-19 AND INEQUALITIES

The effects of the coronavirus pandemic were not shared out equally across all sections of society. Those who were already disadvantaged in various ways were more at risk from the virus, and more likely to suffer stress and economic hardship as a result of efforts to contain its spread. The pandemic therefore exposed pre-existing inequalities in health, and widened them, by falling hardest where health and its social determinants were already in a worse state.

COVID-19 mortality rates rise steeply with age, and are higher for people with disabilities, for men, and for people with longstanding health conditions (22) (157). Those living in more disadvantaged areas, with lower education and lower incomes may be more likely to catch COVID-19 due to living in crowded conditions and having increased occupational exposures, and are more likely to be in poor health beforehand, increasing the risk of a worse outcome (22).

RATES OF INFECTION AND MORTALITY

Figure 5.1 Distribution of confirmed or probable

There were over 12,000 confirmed cases of COVID-19 infection in Hong Kong in the period up to 22 October 2021, representing an infection rate of 1.6 per thousand population, and 213 deaths (157). The breakdown of cases by age group is shown in Figure 5.1



Source: Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) in HK Dashboard (158)

Several physical co-morbidities increase the risk of severe infection including cardiovascular disease; hypertension; malignancy; chronic respiratory disease; immunosuppressive conditions including organ transplantation; chronic kidney disease; diabetes and obesity. Early reports from China indicated that between 7-20% of inpatients with COVID-19 had diabetes. Within hospital, diabetes is associated with more severe infection, respiratory distress requiring intensive ventilatory support, cardiac injury and death (158). Fasting hyperglycaemia per se is also associated with a higher risk of death (159). Most of these conditions increase in prevalence with older age, contributing to the increased risk of severe infection and death in older age groups. As we have seen in Section 2C of this report, chronic disease is also linked to socioeconomic position: if prior poor health increases vulnerability to severe COVID-19 infection, then the pandemic may exacerbate pre-existing health inequalities.

According to a telephone survey conducted in September/ October 2020 by the CUHK Institute of Health Equity, more deprived individuals in Hong Kong found it harder to source or afford sufficient supplies of Personal Protective Equipment (PPE), including masks, potentially putting themselves and their communities at greater risk of spreading infection.

One particular cluster of cases can serve as an illustration. Since the first batch of reported cases in the 'Dancing/Singing' cluster came mainly from the wealthier members of society who attended dance clubs across the city, it was once believed that COVID-19 was the ultimate equalizer that did not only affect the socioeconomically disadvantaged. Early local research suggested that COVID-19 spread from less deprived to more deprived areas across the first three waves of community outbreaks (160). Nonetheless, in regions with profound wealth and health inequalities like Hong Kong, COVID-19 transmission down the socioeconomic gradient may be inevitable (161). In the box below, we trace one such chain of transmission.

INEFFECTIVE COVID-19 CONTAINMENT IN THE ENTERTAINMENT SETTINGS AND ITS COST ON THE SOCIOECONOMICALLY DISADVANTAGED: LESSONS LEARNED FROM THE LARGEST TRACEABLE 'DANCING/SINGING' CLUSTER IN HONG KONG

The 'Dancing/Singing' cluster stands out as the largest COVID-19 infection cluster in Hong Kong. From 19 November to 22 December 2020, 732 epidemiologically linked cases were identified, which is seven-fold the size of the second largest cluster: the 'Bar and Band' cluster, which also emerged from an entertainment setting (162).

Based on 486 symptomatic COVID-19 cases with local residential addresses (93.5% of the 520 symptomatic cases) in the 'Dancing/Singing' cluster reported by the Centre for Health Protection of Hong Kong until 31 December 2020, we studied the temporal trend of socioeconomic profile by matching their addresses with the area-level Social Deprivation Index (SDI) of corresponding large Tertiary Planning Units (162) (163).

Despite initially clustering in the relatively wealthier groups who could afford entertainment activities, the disease spread to people living in disadvantaged communities in about one month. Adjusted for age and gender, results of multiple linear regression showed a statistically significant increase in SDI by 0.012 (95% CI=0.004-0.020; p=0.004) per day.

Entertainment settings were not only often the primary source of exposure, they also characteristically result in rapid propagation and especially long transmission cascades involving multiple secondary settings, when compared with infection clusters emerging from other social venues (164). The socioeconomically disadvantaged are particularly susceptible, as evidenced by the sizeable outbreaks in public estates and residential care homes in deprived areas in the later phase of the 'Dancing/Singing' cluster outbreak (162). Even though the outbreaks begin amongst the more advantaged, the effect of social determinants quickly becomes evident in the increased vulnerability of the poor and the deprived. Without prompt and effective regulatory measures, the cost of massive outbreaks from entertainment settings could end up being passed onto socioeconomically disadvantaged communities.

Later studies have lent support to the idea that the socioeconomically disadvantaged are at greater risk from COVID-19 clusters. A recent local study examined the data on sizable infection clusters in Hong Kong, i.e. outbreaks involving ten or more epidemiologically linked patients from different households. This found that socioeconomic disadvantage was associated with greater transmission, particularly in clusters associated with essential activities of living and working. This is in keeping with the observation that the less well-off find it harder to social distance at home and in the community, and are less likely to be able to work from home (165).

Local research found no direct association between socioeconomic position and risk of severe illness, but did find that the increased risk of severe COVID-19 amongst those with multiple chronic health problems could be effectively mitigated by higher socioeconomic position. In other words, although multimorbidity increased the risk of severe disease among those from medium- and low-income areas, that risk was all but eliminated for those living in highincome areas. The authors of the report hypothesised that greater difficulty managing long-term health conditions, perhaps related to health literacy and access to primary care, may explain why co-morbidities left the disadvantaged at greater risk than they did the relatively well-off (166). Although those who were poor but healthy may not have been at any greater risk of severe illness than those who were healthy and wealthy, those who were both poor and chronically ill - and the poor are more likely to have multiple chronic illnesses - were particularly vulnerable.

MENTAL HEALTH

There is a mental health crisis occurring globally as a result of the pandemic. Pandemic-related fears, financial and employment concerns and the social isolation associated with lockdown measures have all been cited as contributory factors to these indirect health impacts (167). Zhao et al. (2020) investigated the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and attempted to identify vulnerable sociodemographic groups in Hong Kong (168). This study involved analysis of cross-sectional data from the 2016 and 2017 Hong Kong Family and Health Information Trend Surveys and the 2020 COVID-19 Health Information Survey, based on random samples of the general adult population. The results indicated that stress levels in 2020 had increased by 28.3% when compared to 2016 and 2017 and that anxiety prevalence had increased by 42.3%. Additionally, the prevalence of depression symptoms and unhappiness had doubled. There was evidence that this burden had not fallen equally across society, as increased stress levels were significantly higher amongst adults who had received less education, as well as amongst older people. The study concluded that Hong Kong is facing a mental health emergency emerging from the COVID-19 pandemic and that public health interventions were urgently needed in Hong Kong, particularly for older people and for those with lower educational attainment.

5B INEQUALITIES IN IMPACTS FROM CONTAINMENT MEASURES

Socioeconomic inequalities did not just put individuals at greater risk from COVID-19, they also affected vulnerability to the negative effects of measures to contain the pandemic. As usual when the economy suffers, the burden falls heaviest on those who are already disadvantaged: the poor become poorer. Those in better paid jobs may be more able to work from home, while those in lower-paid, precarious, or casual work may risk losing what income they have. School closures fall more heavily on children who lack learning resources at home, or whose parents lack the free time and flexibility to help with learning from home. Necessary as they may have been, the effect of these control measures may be to widen inequalities in health in the longer term.

FINANCIAL SECURITY

As shown in Figure 5.2, nearly two thirds of socially deprived survey respondents agreed that they had become more worried about their family's financial situation since the outbreak, compared with under a third of the non-deprived.

Figure 5.2 Distribution of the extent of agreement to the statement that survey respondents feel more worried about their family's financial situation since the COVID-19 outbreak, by deprivation status in Hong Kong, September/October 2020.



Deprived Non-deprived

Source: Unpublished data from the telephone survey conducted by CUHK Institute of Health Equity (2020)

In terms of employment status, the highest proportion of those who reported agreement with the statement that they feel more worried about the financial situation of their family since the COVID-19 pandemic was amongst those who were unemployed (60%), as shown in Figure 5.3. The majority of those in other employment status categories indicated disagreement with this statement. It is perhaps unsurprising that the unemployed should be most concerned about their financial situation, but if welfare support is insufficient then these concerns may translate into negative health effects, and potentially impair their ability to find work and improve their situation. Even with pandemic measures introduced to extend the CSSA, many are excluded, including any able-bodied adult with total assets in excess of only HK\$66,000 (US\$8,500) (62).

Figure 5.3 Percent in agreement or disagreement with the statement that survey respondents feel more worried about their family's financial since the COVID-19 outbreak, by employment status in Hong Kong, September/October 2020.



Source: Unpublished data from the telephone survey conducted by CUHK Institute of Health Equity (2020)

Note: 'Agreement' in this graph includes those who said they agreed or totally agreed with the statement. Conversely, "disagreement" comprises those who said they disagreed or disagreed totally.

EMPLOYMENT

Unemployment and underemployment rates have increased sharply during the COVID-19 outbreak, and although we have begun to see improvement, levels remain higher than pre-pandemic. Figure 5.4 shows the changes in employment between 2019 and 2021. We have noted earlier the long-term trend of increased workforce participation among older people, perhaps related to inadequate welfare provision in older age. Here we can see that the increase in unemployment has fallen more heavily on younger age groups. Figure 5.5 places this trend in a longer historical context.



Figure 5.4 Unemployment rate by five-year age group by quarters in Hong Kong, 2019 Q4-2021 Q2.

Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Data from the General Household Survey (169)

Figure 5.5 Unemployment rate as a percent of total labour force, modelled ILO estimates, 2005-2020



Source: The World Bank database (2021). Unemployment, total (% of total labour force) (modelled ILO estimate) (170)

Underemployment also increased during the pandemic. Figure 5.6 shows the marked increase in underemployment in 2020, especially among the youngest age group and among those aged 50-59 and

60 and over. Underemployment in the younger age group may lead to worsening chances of good employment as they get older, perpetuating disadvantage and increasing deprivation.





Source: Census and Statistics Department Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Data from the General Household Survey (169)

These increases in unemployment and underemployment can only worsen inequalities and deprivation for segments of the population, and may well have long-term impacts on health that reveal themselves in the coming years.

EDUCATION

Globally, the COVID-19 pandemic has had a profound impact in delivery of education. Face-to-face education was suspended in many countries as part of virus containment measures, with over 130 million students in 11 countries worldwide missing over three-quarters of their face-to-face teaching in the 18 months of the pandemic (171). Hong Kong was one of the first cities to impose school closures in response to the pandemic (172).

According to the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organisation (UNESCO), school closures carry significant adverse economic and social costs across communities and these impacts are most significant for marginalized and vulnerable groups (173). These can serve to exacerbate already existing inequalities in educational attainment as well as other related factors, and have long term impacts on inequalities in employment and income. Prolonged school closures can also have impacts on other aspects of child development including their physical, cognitive, mental and psychosocial health, as well as on their family relationships (172). In Hong Kong, a study was conducted by Tso et al. (2020) with a sample of Hong Kong families with children aged 2-12 years to investigate and identify groups of children who were vulnerable to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic and the associated containment measures including school closures. The study results provided empirical evidence of school closures exacerbating inequalities for families with children with special educational needs. This was particularly so for single parent families, low-income families and families with members with mental disorders (172).

With the physical school closures in response to the pandemic, digital platforms have become an important means of delivering remote education. However, global evidence suggests that there are inequalities in access to the resources required to facilitate such digital learning (174). In Hong Kong, a study conducted by the Society for Community Organization with 600 low-income families found that 70% of these families did not have computers and 28% did not have broadband access (175).

At present, Hong Kong performs extremely well in OECD's Programme for International Student Assessment, which assesses the educational achievement of 15-year-olds, with a smaller difference between outcomes for the socioeconomically advantaged and disadvantaged than the OECD average (176). However, worsening inequalities in access to learning resources threaten to widen educational attainment gaps between school children from 'poorer' and 'richer' economic backgrounds. As we have seen, gaps in educational attainment can translate into inequalities in later life, including inequalities in health.



EXCLUSION AND DISCRIMINATION

An evidence brief from the WHO, currently in pre-print, has identified that some groups have been disproportionately affected by COVID-19 in multiple countries, including ethnic minorities, migrants, and workers in precarious employment. Many foreign domestic workers in Hong Kong live at the intersection of these vulnerabilities, as do those working in front-line occupations in many countries, as noted by the WHO (177)

Migrant workers are particularly vulnerable to the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. Migrant workers are often excluded from their host country's welfare system and can face barriers in accessing health information and healthcare. The border closures for many countries have restricted the ability of migrants to move between their home and host countries (178). The pandemic has also seen an increase in xenophobic and discriminatory behaviour towards migrants (179).

A study conducted by Lui et al. (2021) investigated the experiences of foreign domestic workers in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic and the impacts that the pandemic has had on their health and economic wellbeing. The study concluded that the inequalities and discrimination against foreign domestic workers had been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. The employment conditions and treatment of foreign domestic workers by their employers have become worse since the outbreak of the pandemic and these workers have been largely neglected in the government's policy response. Financial support, quarantine arrangements and access to food and PPE were identified by the survey participants as areas where more support is needed. Many of the study participants indicated that they have needed to turn to community support networks to access PPE and other essentials (178).



5C HONG KONG GOVERNMENT RESPONSES TO COVID-19

Support measures were introduced in 2020-2021 to mitigate the impacts of COVID-19. The government implemented a fiscal stimulus package amounting to 12.2% of GDP as a means of supporting individuals and business in response to the pandemic. Key measures of this stimulus included health-related spending to support anti-epidemic efforts, cash payouts to eligible residents, an employment support scheme and the introduction of an Anti-epidemic Fund which provided one-off relief measures to eligible citizens (this is further detailed below) (180).

Of the one-off relief spending in 2020-2021, just over a quarter were tax refunds (28%), 9% was for enterprises and the remaining consisted of universal cash distributions and dedicated support to lower-income families, as shown in Figure 5.7. Only 5% of this, however, was dedicated specifically to lower-income families (66).



Figure 5.7 Distribution of the one-off relief measures in the 2020-2021 Budget in Hong Kong

Source: Research Office Legislative Council Secretariat. The 2020-2021 Budget (66).

A large fiscal deficit was announced by the Financial Secretary in the 2021-2022 Budget delivered in February 2021 - HK\$257.6 billion for 2020-2021, representing 9.5% of GDP. This was over 80% higher than the forecasted fiscal deficit outlined in the 2020-2021 Budget (HK\$139.1 billion), attributable to the government's expenditure on relief measures associated with the COVID-19 pandemic, illustrating the significant impact that the pandemic has had on the economy (66) (181).

Unprecedented initiatives were announced in the 2021-2022 budget to support the economy. These include an initiative to issue time-limited consumption vouchers, rather than cash, to eligible residents, as well as the introduction of governmentguaranteed personal loans to the unemployed, as a means of providing financial relief to this group, particularly those with limited financial assets. Additionally, the expansion of the issue of green bonds was also announced as a means of relieving government fiscal pressures (181). However, the 2021-2022 budget also reduced or halted many of the one-off expenditures relating to COVID-19 relief measures. There is no longer a one-month rent waiver for low-income households in public rental units and the salaries and profits tax rebates have been halved. As a result, it is estimated that the total public expenditure for 2021-2022 will decrease by 10.3% when compared to 2020-2021. However, whilst the one-off relief measure has been scaled back, a 9.5% increase in recurrent expenditure has been budgeted for 2021-2022, with recurrent public expenditure on health, social welfare and education being increased by 9.2% year-on-year. Social welfare has the largest year-on-year growth rate for 2021-2022, as shown in Figure 5.8. It has been suggested that this is attributable to the government's spending on older people and rehabilitation services (181).

Figure 5.8 Year-on-year growth rate of recurrent public expenditure by policy areas, 2021-2022



Source: Research Office Legislative Secretariat. The 2021-2022 Budget April 2021. Research Brief Issue No.3 2020-2021 (181)

HONG KONG GOVERNMENT'S ONE-OFF RELIEF MEASURES

ANTI-EPIDEMIC FUND HONG KONG

A HK\$30 billion Anti-Epidemic Fund was approved on 21 February 2020 by the Legislative Council and was distributed across 24 measures directed at enhancing anti-epidemic capability (182). This included, but was not limited to: enhancing support to the Hospital Authority to combat the epidemic; supporting local mask production; and providing support for the Retail Sector Subsidy Scheme and the Food Licence Holders Subsidy Scheme (183).

A second round of Anti-epidemic Fund measures were approved 18 April 2020 totalling HK\$137.5 billion and a third HK\$24 billion Anti-epidemic Fund was announced 15 September 2020 An additional HK\$6.4 billion was then added to the Anti-epidemic Fund on 21 December 2020 (183). Measures in this fourth round included the application of antivirus coating for residential care homes for older people and those with disabilities, the procurement of private virus testing services, a Designated Quarantine Hotel Scheme and a Greater Bay Area Youth Employment Scheme (184).

GOVERNMENT MEASURES TO SUPPORT INDIVIDUALS AND BUSINESSES IMPACTED BY THE COVID-19 PANDEMIC.

In April 2020, the Hong Kong Government outlined a package of measures to support businesses and individuals affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. The measures outlined in the package were broadly directed at retaining jobs, supporting enterprises and protecting livelihoods. As part of retaining jobs, it was outlined that an HK\$81 billion Employment Support Scheme would be introduced to provide wage subsidies for eligible employers. This was so that employers could use the subsidy amount to pay their employee's wages, rather than making their employees redundant. A further HK\$6 billion would be invested to create 30,000 time-limited jobs in the public and private sectors, around 10,000 civil servants would be recruited by the government, and 5,000 short-term positions for young people would be created (185).

Measures to support enterprises included providing one-off grants of HK\$80,000 or HK\$200,000 to eligible food licence holders and providing eligible retails shops with one-off relief grants of HK\$80,000. Measures outlined to protect livelihoods included: reducing salary tax; extending the deadline for the payment of salary taxes; providing an extra month's payment for CSSA recipients; and covering a month's rent for lower income persons living in public rental accommodation (185).

5D SELECTED NGO/CIVIL SOCIETY RESPONSES TO COVID-19

Non-governmental organisations (NGOs) and the charitable sector play a crucial role in providing social assistance and support to the less advantaged in Hong Kong. This was particularly important during the pandemic, when prior inequalities were exacerbated. Below are some of the responses from the NGO sector during the pandemic.

THE JOCKEY CLUB'S COMMUNITY SUSTAINABILITY FUND

In May 2020, a HK\$150 million Community Sustainability Fund was announced by the Hong Kong Jockey Club to help address the impacts of COVID-19 in Hong Kong. Specifically, the Fund will serve to provide grants to small and medium size community service agencies to help them to plan and implement services to support the physical and mental wellbeing of disadvantaged and vulnerable groups affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. Other initiatives launched by the club included a HK\$100 million COVID-19 Emergency Fund which was designed to provide emergency grants to non-governmental organizations who provide essential services to vulnerable groups affected by the pandemic including low-income groups and older people. As of 7 May 2020, over 200 organizations had received grants as part of this initiative for more than 220 projects. Additionally, the Jockey Club has provided funding for care packs comprising of essential food and hygiene supplies which were distributed to vulnerable groups including homebound older people, and to disabled and low-income groups (186).

HONG KONG COUNCIL OF SOCIAL SERVICE (HKCSS) COVID-19 RESPONSE

The HKCSS is a federation of NGOs in Hong Kong working in the social care field (187). In response to the COVID-19 pandemic, the HKCSS along with over 350 social welfare organizations have been distributing preventive materials to disadvantaged groups in Hong Kong. As a result, a total of 7.53 million masks and 830,000 other supplies have been distributed to over 1.65 million people (188).

HONG KONG RED CROSS (HKRC) COVID-19 RESPONSE

The HKRC have undertaken taken a number of actions to support citizens in Hong Kong in response to the pandemic, including providing a community health education service, prevention information and tools and a psychological support service. As a result, and as reported on the 12 April 2021, the HKRC has distributed over 4.6 million masks, provided emergency support to over 119,000 individuals in quarantine, provided over 300,000 relief material items to quarantine centres and provided health and hygiene education as well as psychological support to over 3.5 million people (189).

Moreover, the HKRC, in January and February 2021, deployed staff members to selected areas to provide infection prevention and mental health information and to distribute PPE. Over 5,000 individuals benefitted from this. Additionally, discussions were held with over 800 citizens in order to gain an understanding of community needs. Following this, in a press release the HKRC highlighted that it is was evident that more support is required for vulnerable groups. Such groups include low-income groups, those with chronic diseases, ethnic minorities, immigrants and older people. It was also stressed that the HKRC were particularly concerned about older people from low-income groups in terms of infection prevention based on observations made of this group for example in terms of the incorrect use of masks, the repeated use of the same mask and lack of knowledge of how to use infection prevention measures correctly (190).

ST JAMES' SETTLEMENT PEOPLE'S FOOD BANK

The People's Food Bank was established in 2003 and serves to provide food services to deprived groups in Hong Kong. The aim of the Food Bank is to "provide food to people in need on a short-term and weekly basis, relieve hunger and to promote social cohesion through encouraging people to share resources with those less fortunate than themselves" (191). The service targets disadvantaged and vulnerable populations including those on low income, older people, the unemployed, and 'Street Sleepers'. Specific services provided as part of the programme include the provision of nutrition packs to older people and a Children Milk Powder Sponsorship Scheme, where milk and milk powder is provided to deprived families with children aged 10 years or below in order to support the nutrition needs of these children (192).

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS AND THE WAY FORWARD





As the first report of the series, we have provided an overview of the situation of health inequalities across the social ladder in Hong Kong, with a focus on the impact of different social conditions and the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic on health. These are some of the key messages of this report:

- Hong Kong has the longest life expectancy in the world, but also marked health inequalities in chronic diseases, mental health, subjective health status, health behaviour, and healthcare access, resulting in a social gradient of health.
- A wide array of social determinants of health are interrelated – education, work, income, housing, social spending and poverty are all closely related to health outcomes.
- The COVID-19 outbreak has exposed and exacerbated the pre-existing social inequalities in Hong Kong, not only due to disproportionate risk of COVID-19 infection but also the differential health and social impacts of COVID-19 containment measures across the social ladder.
- Without prompt and appropriate interventions, the povertyinduced health problems could increase the already heavy burden of the healthcare and social welfare system.
- Reducing inequalities in health requires holistic strategies across the whole of the society and government rather than mitigation in silos.

Based on the findings and observations in this report, we have made five recommendations to reduce health inequalities in Hong Kong as follows:



through the life course, socio-environmental factors, existing services and public policies, and recommendations on strategies for achieving health equity. The final report will address the key question – why does Hong Kong have the longest life expectancy in the world?

REFERENCES

BUILD BACK FAIRER: REDUCING SOCIOECONOMIC INEQUALITIES IN HEALTH IN HONG KONG

71



- World Health Organization. Social determinants of health. 2021. www.who.int/health-topics/socialdeterminants-of-health#tab=tab_1
- 2. Commission of the Pan American Health Organization on Equity and Health Inequalities in the Americas. Just Societies: Health Equity and Dignified Lives. Report of the Commission of the Pan American Health Organization on Equity and Health Inequalities in the Americas. Washington D.C. PAHO, 2019.
- Roser M, Oritz-Ospina E, Ritchie H. Life Expectancy. Our World in Data. October 2019. ourworldindata.org/life-expectancy
- 4. Cutler D, Deaton A, Lleras-Muney A. The Determinants of Mortality. Journal of Economic Perspectives, 2016, Vol. 20:3: 97-120.
- Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Monthly Digest of Statistics 2019 11: The Mortality Trend in Hong Kong, 1986 to 2018. November 2019. www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/ B71911FB2019XXXXB0100.pdf
- 6. Sen A. Development as Fredom. New York. Alfred A Knopf Inc, 1999.
- 7. Venkatapuram S. Health Justice. Cambridge. Polity, 2011.
- Kim JY. Eliminating Poverty in the 21st Century: The Role of Health and Human Capital. JAMA. 2018;320(14):1427-1428.
- 9. Solar O, Irwin A. A conceptual framework for action on the social determinants of health. Social Determinants of Health Discussion. 2010. www. who.int/publications/i/item/9789241500852
- WHO Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health - Final report of the commission on social determinants of health. World Health Organization, 2008. www.who.int/publications/i/ item/WHO-IER-CSDH-08.1
- Irwin LGS, Hertzman C. Early Child Development: A Powerful Equalizer. Final Report for the World Health Organization's Commission on the Social Determinants of Health, 2007.
- 12. World Health Organization, Institute of Health Equity. Review of social determinants and the health divide in the WHO European Region. World Health Organization, 2013.
- 13. Donkin AJ. M. Social Gradient. Institute of Health Equity, 2014.

- Bergmann N, Gyntelberg F, Faber J. The appraisal of chronic stress and the development of the metabolic syndrome: a systematic review of prospective cohort studies. Endocr Connect. 2014 Jun 1; 3(2): R55-R80. dx.doi. org/10.1530%2FEC-14-0031
- Mackenbach J, Meerding WJ, Kunst AE. Economic costs of health inequalities in European Union. Epidemiol Community Health, 2011, Vol. 65. doi. org/10.1136/jech.2010.112680
- Equality Trust. The Cost of Inequality, 2014. www. equalitytrust.org.uk/sites/default/files/The%20 Cost%20of%20Inequality_0.pdf
- 17. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Boyce T, McNeish D, Grady M. Fair Society, Healthy Lives: The Marmot Review. London, 2010. www. instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/ fair-society-healthy-lives-the-marmot-review
- World Health Organization. Rio Political Declaration on Social Determinants of Health, 2011. www.who.int/sdhconference/declaration/ Rio_political_declaration.pdf?ua=1
- 19. World Health Organization. Social determinants of health. Intersectoral action. www.who.int/social_determinants/implementation/countries/isa/en/
- 20. Marmot M, Allen J, Goldblatt P, Herd E, Morrison J. Build Back Fairer: The Covid-19 Marmot Review. Institute of Health Equity. London, 2020. www. instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/ build-back-fairer-the-covid-19-marmot-review
- Marmot M, Allen J, Boyce T, Goldblatt P, Morrison J. Health Equity in England: The Marmot Review 10 Years On. Institute of Health Equity. London, 2020. www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resourcesreports/marmot-review-10-years-on
- 22. Chung RY, Lai FTT, Chung GKK, Yip BHK, Wong SYS, Yeoh EK. Socioeconomic disparity in mortality risks widened across generations during rapid economic development in Hong Kong: an age-period-cohort analysis from 1976 to 2010. Vols. Annals of Epidemiology 28 (2018) 743-752. doi.org/10.1016/j.annepidem.2018.06.004
- Cislaghi B, Cislaghi C. Self-rated health as a valid indicator for health-equity analyses: evidence from the Italian health interview survey. BMC Public Health, 2019, Vol. 533.
- 24. Surveillance and Epidemiology Branch Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Report of Population Health Survey 2014/15, 2017. www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/dh_phs_2014_15_full_ report_eng.pdf
- 25. Wuorela M, Lavonius S, Salminen M, Vahlberg T, Viitanen M, Viikari L. Self-rated health and objective health status as predictors of all-cause mortality among older people: a prospective study with a 5-, 10-, and 27-year follow-up. BMC Geriatrics, 2020, Vol. 120.
- Barbieri D, Caisl J, Carpentier S, Ciacchella D, Karu M, Mollard B, Peciukonis V, Reingardė J, Salanauskaitė L, Riobóo Lestón I. Gender Equality Index 2019 Work-life balance. European Institute for Gender Equality. Luxembourg. Publications Office of the European Union, 2020. ISBN 978-92-9482-382-3
- 27. World Health Organization. Noncommunicable diseases. 1 June 2018. www.who.int/news-room/ fact-sheets/detail/noncommunicable-diseases.
- World Health Organization. NCD Report Chapter
 NCDs and development. www.who.int/nmh/ publications/ncd_report_chapter2.pdf
- 29. Morgan SA, Roderick PJ, Kowal P, Dimitrov BD, Hill AG. Global Patterns of Multimorbidity: A Comparison of 28 Countries Using the World Health Surveys; Applied Demography and Public Health in the 21st Century, Chapter 21. Springer, 2017
- Wallace E, Salisbury C, Guthrie B et al. Clinical Review: Managing patients with multimorbidity in primary care. BMJ, 2015, Vol. 350. doi.org/10.1136/ bmj.h176
- Fortin M, Lapointe L, Hudon C et al. Multimorbidity and quality of life in primary care: a systematic review. Health and Quality of Life Outcomes, 2004, Vol. 2:51. doi.org/10.1186/1477-7525-2-51
- 32. Barnett K, Mercer SW, Norbury M, Watt G, Wyke S, Guthrie B. Epidemiology of multimorbidity and implications for health care, research, and medical education: a cross-sectional study. The Lancet, 2012, Vol. 380:9836. doi.org/10.1016/ S0140-6736(12)60240-2
- 33. Pathirana TI, Jackson CA. Socioeconomic status and multimorbidity: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Australian and New Zealand Journal of Public Health, 2018, Vol. 42:2. doi. org/10.1111/1753-6405.12762
- 34. Surveillance and Epidemiology Branch, Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Acting on Non-communicable Diseases. May 2018. www. chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/ncd_watch_may_2018.pdf
- 35. Government of Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Towards 2025 Strategy and Action Plan to Prevent and Control Non-communicable Diseases in Hong Kong Summary Report. May 2018. www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/saptowards2025_ summaryreport_en.pdf

- Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Monthly Digest of Statistics September 2018 Feature Article: Analysis on Full-time and Parttime Employment, 2007 to 2017, 2018.
- 37. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Special Topics Report No. 62, 2014. www.censtatd.gov.hk/ en/data/stat_report/product/B1130121/att/ B11301622014XXXXB0100.pdf
- Chung RY, Mercer S, Lai FTT, Yip BHK, Wong MCS, Wong SYS. Socioeconomic Determinants of Multimorbidity: A Population-Based Household Survey of Hong Kong Chinese. PLoS One, 2015, Vol. 10(10):e0140040. doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0140040
- Chung RYN, Chan D, Chau NN-S, Huang S, Wong H, Wong SY-S. Poverty affects access to regular source of primary care among the general population in Hong Kong. Social Policy & Administration: An International Journal of Policy and Research, 2019, Vol. 53, Issue 6. doi. org/10.1111/spol.12538
- 40. World Health Organization. Information sheet -Premature death among people with severe mental disorders. World Health Organization. www.who.int/ mental_health/management/info_sheet.pdf
- 41. Allen J, Balfour R, Bell R, Marmot M. Social determinants of mental health. International Review of Psychiatry, 2014, Vol. 26:4.
- 42. World Health Organization. Social determinants of mental health. World Health Organization. 2014. apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/112828/9789241506809_eng. pdf;jsessionid=A91CF9013C3DABD4D00FD5CCC 557F46F?sequence=1
- 43. Mind HK. PRESS RELEASE: World Mental Health Day #HowOkayAreYouCampaign. 10 October 2019. www.mind.org.hk/press-releases/wmhd2019/
- 44. European Foundation for the Improvement of Living and Working Conditions. European Quality of Life Survey. 2016. www.eurofound.europa.eu/ data/european-quality-of-life-survey
- 45. Elliot I. Poverty and Mental Health: A review to inform the Joseph Rowntree Foundation's Anti-Poverty Strategy. June 2016. www.mentalhealth. org.uk/sites/default/files/Poverty%20and%20 Mental%20Health.pdf
- 46. Chung R, Marmot M, Mak J et al. Deprivation is associated with anxiety and stress: A populationbased longtitudinal household survey among Chinese adults in Hong Kong. Epidemiol Community, 2020, Vol. 75. doi.org/10.1136/jech-2020-214728

- 47. Chan C, Wong H, Yip P. Associations of relative income deprivation with perceived happiness and self-rated health among the Hong Kong Chinese population. International Journal of Public Health, 2017, Vol. 62.
- 48. Raleigh V, Holmes J. The health of people from ethnic minority groups in England. The Kings Fund. 17th September 2021. www.kingsfund.org. uk/publications/health-people-ethnic-minoritygroups-england
- 49. Thomas B. Health and Health Care Disparities: The Effect of Social and Environmental Factors on Individual and Population Health. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, 2014, Vols. 11(7), 7492-7507. doi.org/10.3390/ijerph110707492
- 50. Wang YJ, Chen XP, Chen WJ et al. Ethnicity and health inequalities: an empirical study based on the 2010 China survey of social change (CSSC) in Western China. BMC Public Health, 2020, Vol. 20:637. doi.org/10.1186/s12889-020-08579-8
- Chen CXR, Chan KH. Type 2 diabetes management in Hong Kong ethnic minorities: what primary care physicians need to know. Hong Kong Med J 2014;20:222–8. dx.doi.org/10.12809/ hkmj134035
- 52. Vandan N, Wong JY-H, Lee JJ-J, Yip PS-F, Fong DY-T. Challenges of healthcare professionals in providing care to South Asian ethnic minority patients in Hong Kong: A qualitative study. Health Soc Care Community. 2020;28:591–601. dx.doi. org/10.1111/hsc.12892
- 53. Legislative Council Subcommittee on Rights of Ethnic Minorities. Difficulties Encountered by ethnic minorities in gaining access to housing and healthcare services, and views on services provided by Support Services for Ethnic Minorities. Health in Action, 2017. www.legco.gov. hk/yr16-17/chinese/hc/sub_com/hs52/papers/ hs5220170508cb2-1315-5-ec.pdf
- 54. Pickett K, Wilkinson R. The Spirit Level. Harlow. Penguin, 2012. ISBN: 9780241954294
- 55. Chung RY-N, Marmot M. People in Hong Kong Have the Longest Life Expectancy in the World: Some Possible Explanations. NAM Perspectives, 2020. 10.31478/202001d
- 56. Lawson S. Poverty and health. The Health Foundation, 2018. www.health.org.uk/ infographic/poverty-and-health
- 57. Wong K, Yeung M. Population ageing trend of Hong Kong. Economic Letter 2019/02. Office of the Government Economist. www.hkeconomy. gov.hk/en/pdf/el/el-2019-02.pdf

- 58. OECD. Income Inequality. 2016. data.oecd.org/ inequality/income-inequality.htm.
- Social Indicators of Hong Kong. Gini Coefficient.
 5 October 2020. www.socialindicators.org.hk/en/ indicators/economy/11.6
- 60. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 By-census thematic Report: Household Income Distribution in Hong Kong. June 2017. www.censtatd.gov.hk/ hkstat/sub/sp459.jsp?productCode=B1120096
- 61. OECD. Regional Well-Being: Regional income distribution and poverty. stats.oecd.org/index. aspx?queryid=58616
- 62. Marques CF. Hong Kong Must Tackle Its Worsening Wealth Gap. Bloomberg Opinion, 17 November 2020. www.bloomberg.com/opinion/ articles/2020-11-17/hong-kong-needs-to-tackleits-worsening-inequality
- Marmot M. The Health Gap: The challenge of an unequal world. London. Bloomsbury, 2015. 978-1-4088-5797-7
- 64. Research Office Legislative Council Secretariat. Major sources of government revenue. 24 May 2019. www.legco.gov.hk/research-publications/ english/1819issf04-major-sources-of-governmentrevenue-20190529-e.pdf
- 65. Oxfam. Hong Kong Inequality Report. 2018. www. oxfam.org.hk/tc/f/news_and_publication/16372/ Oxfam_inequality%20report_Eng_FINAL.pdf.
- 66. Research Office Legislative Council Secretariat. The 2020-2021 Budget. April 2020. www.legco. gov.hk/research-publications/english/1920rb01the-2020-2021-budget-20200403-e.pdf
- 67. OECD database. Social spending, 2021 (indicator). doi.org/10.1787/7497563b-en
- 68. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Poverty Situation Report 2019. www.censtatd.gov.hk/ en/data/stat_report/product/B9XX0005/att/ B9XX0005E2019AN19E0100.pdf
- 69. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Social Welfare Department. Social Security Allowance (SSA) Scheme. www.swd.gov.hk/en/index/site_pubsvc/ page_socsecu/sub_ssallowance/
- 70. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region, Social Welfare Department. Comprehensive Social Security Assistance (CSSA) Scheme. www.swd.gov.hk/ en/index/site_pubsvc/page_socsecu/sub_ comprehens/

- 71. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Press Releases. Annex to LCQ20: Comprehensive Social Security Assistance. www.info.gov.hk/gia/ general/202006/17/P2020061700327.htm
- 72. Hui S. More than 40pc of salary goes on rent for subdivided flats. The Standard. 24 June 2019. www.thestandard.com.hk/section-news/ section/4/208931/More-than-40pc-of-salarygoes-on-rent-for-subdivided-flats
- 73. Legislative Council Panel on Welfare Services. Legislative Council Panel on Welfare Services Review of 'Pro-employment' Measures and Other Improvement Measures under the CSSA Scheme, and Annual Adjustment of Social Security Payment Rates under the CSSA Scheme and Social Security Allowance Scheme. 2019. LC Paper No. CB(2)145/19-20(05).
- Askim J, Fimreite AL, Moseley A, Holm Pedersen L. One-stop shops for social welfare: The adaptation of an organizational form in three countries. Public Administration, 2011. Vol. 89, No. 4. doi.org/1111/j.1467-9299.2011.01933.x
- 75. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region: Labour and Welfare Bureau. Supporting our Welfare NGOs. www.lwb. gov.hk/en/blog/author/27032008.html
- Law CK. Govt exploring ways to aid the jobless. news.gov.hk. 7 February 2021. www.news.gov.hk/eng /2021/02/20210207/20210207_181408_871.html
- 77. Working Family Allowance Office. Working Family Allowance. www.wfsfaa.gov.hk/wfao/en/index.htm.
- News.gov.hk. Gov't supports low-income families. 5 June 2020. www.news.gov.hk/eng/ 2020/06/20200605/20200605_115744_600. html?type=ticker
- 79. PWC. Review of Hong Kong's MPF system: Recommendations for key reforms. www.pwchk. com/en/asset-management/hong-kong-mpfreview-and-recommendations.pdf
- Wong H, Fong M. Mandatory Provident Fund vs. Universal Old Age Pension: A Review of the Impact of Mandatory Provident Fund on Women's Poverty in Hong Kong. 2012. www. researchgate.net/publication/237054660_ Mandatory_Provident_Fund_vs_Universal_ Old_Age_Pension_A_Review_of_the_Impact_ of_Mandatory_Provident_Fund_on_Women's_ Poverty_in_Hong_Kong

- 81. International Labour Organization. World Social Protection Report 2017-19: Universal social protection to achieve the Sustainable Development Goals. 2017. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/ documents/publication/wcms_604882.pdf
- International Labour Organization. Minimum Wage Systems: General Survey of the Reports on the Minimum Wage Fixing Convention, 1970 (No. 131), and the Minimum Wage Fixing Recommendation, 1970 (No. 135). 2014. www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_norm/---relconf/documents/meetingdocument/ wcms_235287.pdf
- 83. International Labour Organization. Global Wage Report 2020-21: Wages and minimum wages in the time of COVID-19. International Labour Organization . 2020. www.ilo.org/wcmsp5/ groups/public/---dgreports/---dcomm/---publ/ documents/publication/wcms_762534.pdf
- 84. Tran H. Hong Kong's New Minimum Wage Effective Since 1 May 2019. Mayer Brown.
 7 May 2019. www.mayerbrown.com/en/ perspectives-events/publications/2019/05/ hong-kongs-new-minimum-wage-effective-since-1-may-2019#:~:text=Effective%201%20May%20 2019%2C%20the,to%20HK%2415%2C300%20 per%20month
- 85. Tam JCW, Kwok LJ. Hong Kong's Statutory Minimum Wage Remains at HK\$37.50 Per Hour. Mayer Brown. 3 February 2021. www. mayerbrown.com/en/perspectives-events/ publications/2021/02/hong-kongs-statutoryminimum-wage-remains-at-hk-37-50-per-hour
- 86. Trading Economics. Minimum Wages in Hong Kong remained unchanged at 37.50 HKD/Hour in 2021 from 37.50 HKD/Hour in 2020. Trading Economics. May 2021. tradingeconomics.com/ hong-kong/minimum-wages
- 87. Rogers L. Poverty and Protests in Hong Kong. The Borgen Project, 23 November 2019. borgenproject.org/tag/the-low-income-workingfamily-allowance/
- BBC. Hong Kong workers to enjoy minimum wage for first time. 1 May 2011. www.bbc.co.uk/news/ business-13248027
- Bovernment of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Press Releases. Minimum Allowable Wage and food allowance for foreign domestic helpers remain unchanged.
 29th September 2020. www.info.gov.hk/gia/ general/202009/29/P2020092900369.htm

- 90. Anderson J, Wisniewski Otero V. Coming Clean: The prevalence of forced labour and human trafficking for the purpose of forced labour amongst migrant domestic workers in Hong Kong. Justice Centre Hong Kong, 2016. www. justicecentre.org.hk/report/comingclean/
- 91. Amnesty International. Exploited for Profit, Failed by Governments: Indonesian migrant domestic workers trafficked to Hong Kong. 2013. www. amnesty.org/en/documents/asa17/029/2013/en/
- 92. Man J. In Hong Kong, a Setback for Domestic-Worker Rights. Time. 2012. world.time. com/2012/03/29/in-hong-kong-a-setback-fordomestic-worker-rights-2/
- Blair C, Cybele Raver C. Poverty, Stress, and Brain Development: New Directions for Prevention and Intervention. Acad Pediatr. 2016 Apr; 16(3 Suppl): S30–S36. dx.doi.org/10.1016/j.acap.2016.01.010
- 94. Bell R. Psychosocial pathways and health outcomes: Informing action on health inequalities. The Institute of Health Equity. 2017. www. instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/ psychosocial-pathways-and-health-outcomesinforming-action-on-health-inequalities
- 95. Mullainathan S, Shafir E. Scarcity: Why Having Too Little Means So Much. New York. Time Books, Henry Holt & Company LLC., 2013.
- Haushofer J, Fehr E. On the Psychology of Poverty. Science, 2014, Vols. 344 (6186): 862-867.
- World Bank. Poverty and Health. 25 August 2014. www.worldbank.org/en/topic/health/brief/ poverty-health
- 98. Lau M, Gordon D, Pantazis C, Kim E, Sutton E. Social Exclusion in Hong Kong: Findings from the 2013 Living Standard Survey. PSEHK. July 2014. poverty.hk/images/en/PSEHK_2nd_ report_25072014_FINAL.pdf
- 99. Lam C, Guo V, Wong C, Yu E, Fung C. Poverty and health-related quality of life of people living in Hong Kong: Comparison of individuals from low-income families and the general population. Journal of Public Health, 2016, Vol. 39:2. doi. org/10.1093/pubmed/fdw046
- 100. Dyson A, Hertzman C, Roberts H, Tunstill J, Vaghri Z. Early Years and Education Task Group Report: Childhood development, education and health inequalities. The Institute of Health Equity. 2010. www.instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/ early-years-and-education-task-group-report-
- 101. OECD. Poverty rate (indicator). 2021. data.oecd. org/inequality/poverty-rate.htm

- 102. Cheung K, Chan Q, Chou K, Lau M. Evaluating the Effectiveness and Efficiency of Hong Kong Welfare Programmes in Reducing Child Poverty. Children and Society, 2018, Vol. 32:6. doi. org/10.1111/chso.12290
- 103. OECD. Policy Brief, In-Work Poverty: What Can Governments Do?. September 2009. www.oecd. org/els/43650040.pdf
- 104. International Labour Organization. Understanding deficits of productive employment and setting targets. A methodological guide. 2012. www. ilo.org/wcmsp5/groups/public/---ed_emp/ documents/publication/wcms_177149.pdf
- 105. United Nations. Employment and Decent Work. United Nations Department of Economic and Social Affairs: Poverty. www.un.org/development/ desa/socialperspectiveondevelopment/issues/ employment-and-decent-work.html
- 106. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. 2016 Population By-census Thematic Report: Older Persons. March 2018. www.censtatd.gov.hk/ en/data/stat_report/product/B1120105/att/ B11201052016XXXXB0100.pdf
- 107. Prüss-Ustün A, Wolf J, Corvalán C, Bos R, Neira M. Preventing disease through healthy environments: A global assessment of the burden of disease from environmental risks. World Health Organization. 2016. ISBN 978 92 4 156519 6.
- 108. World Health Organization: The Global Health Observatory. Public health and environment. www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/publichealth-and-environment
- 109. World Health Organization European Centre for Environment and Health. Environment and health risks: a review of the influence and effects of social inequalities. 2010. www.euro.who.int/_____ data/assets/pdf_file/0003/78069/E93670.pdf
- Ochodo C, Ndetei DM, Moturi WN, Otieno JO. External built residential environment characteristics that affect mental health of adults. J Urban Health. 2014 Oct; 91(5):908-27.
- Hilmers A, Hilmers DC, Dave J. Neighborhood Disparities in Access to Healthy Foods and Their Effects on Environmental Justice. American Journal of Public Health 102, no. 9 (2012): 1644–54.
- 112. Stahre M, VanEenwyk J, Siegel P et al. Housing insecurity and the association with health outcomes and unhealthy behaviors, Washington state, 2011. Prev Chronic Dis 2015;12:E109. doi. org/10.5888/pcd12.140511

- Cairney J, Boyle MH. Home ownership, mortgages and psychological distress. Housing Studies, vol 19, no 2, pp 161-74. 2004.
- 114. United Nations Habitat. The State of Latin American and Caribbean Cities 2012: Towards a new urban transition. 2012. unhabitat.org/stateof-latin-american-and-caribbean-cities-2
- 115. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Report on environmental health inequalities in Europe. 2012. www.euro.who.int/ en/publications/abstracts/environmental-healthinequalities-in-europe.-assessment-report
- Office for National Statistics. Statistical bulletin. Excess winter mortality in England and Wales, 2010/11 (provisional) and 2009/10 (final). 2010.
- 117. World Health Organization. Fact Sheet: Climate Change, Heat and Health. www.who.int/newsroom/fact-sheets/detail/climate-change-heatand-health
- 118. Building Research Establishment and the Chartered Institute of Environmental Health. Good housing leads to good health. 2010. www. cieh.org/media/1245/good-housing-leads-togood-health-a-toolkit-for-environmental-healthpractitioners.pdf
- 119. Harker L. Chance of a lifetime: The impact of housing on children's lives. Shelter, 2006. england.shelter.org. uk/professional_resources/ policy_library/ policy_library_folder/chance_ of_a_lifetime_-_the_impact_of_bad_housing_ on_childrens_lives
- 120. McTarnaghan S, Martín C, Srini T, Collazo J. Literature Review of Housing in Latin America and the Caribbean. Urban Institute and Habitat for Humanity, 2016. www.urban.org/sites/default/ files/publication/84806/2000957-Literature-Review-of-Housing-in-Latin-America-and-the-Caribbean.pdf
- 121. Guereña A. Unearthed: Land, power and inequality in Latin America. Oxfam. 2016. www. oxfam.org/en/research/unearthed-land-powerand-inequality-latin-america
- 122. Yip N. Solving Hong Kong's housing affordability problem. East Asia Forum . 1 May 2020. www. eastasiaforum.org/2020/05/01/solving-hongkongs-housing-affordability-problem/
- 123. Secretariat for the Task Force for the Study on Tenancy Control of Subdivided Units, Transport and Housing Bureau. Report of the Task Force for the Study on Tenancy Control of Subdivided Units. 2021. www.thb.gov.hk/eng/contact/ housing/studyOnTenancyControl_Report.pdf

- 124. Reynolds L, Robinson N. Full house? How overcrowded housing affects families. Shelter.
 2005. england.shelter.org.uk/professional_ resources/policy_and_research/policy_library/full_ house_how_overcrowded_housing_affects_families
- 125. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Hong Kong Bycensus 2016. www.bycensus2016.gov.hk/en/bcmt.html
- 126. Judge L, Rahman F. Lockdown living: Housing quality across the generations. Resolution Foundation, 2020. www.resolutionfoundation. org/publications/lockdown-living/
- 127. Chung GKK, Dong D, Wong SYS et al. Perceived poverty and health, and their roles in the povertyhealth vicious cycle: a qualitative study of major stakeholders in the healthcare setting in Hong Kong. Int J Equity Health 19, 13. 2020. doi. org/10.1186/s12939-020-1127-7
- 128. Urban Reform Institute. Demographia International Housing Affordability 2021 Edition .2021. demographia.com/dhi.pdf
- 129. Chung R, Chung G, Gordon D, Mak J et al. Housing affordability effects on physical and mental health: household survey in a population with the world's greatest housing affordability stress. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2020 Feb;74(2):164-172. doi. org/10.1136/jech-2019-212286
- 130. Maqbool N, Viveiros J, Ault M. The Impacts of Affordable Housing on Health: A Research Summary. Center for Housing Policy. 2015. www.rupco.org/wp-content/uploads/pdfs/ The-Impacts-of-Affordable-Housing-on-Health-CenterforHousingPolicy-Maqbool.etal.pdf
- 131. Cheah J. Hong Kong's Housing Crisis. USC Economics Review. 15 November 2020. usceconreview.com/2020/11/15/hong-kongshousing-crisis/
- 132. Hong Kong Housing Authority. Rent Assistance Scheme. www.housingauthority.gov.hk/en/publichousing/rent-related-matters/rent-assistancescheme/index.html#:~:text=The%20Rent%20 Assistance%20Scheme%20(RAS,%25%20or%20 50%25%20rent%20reduction
- 133. Hong Kong Housing Authority. Number of Applications and Average Waiting Time for Public Rental Housing. www.housingauthority.gov.hk/ en/about-us/publications-and-statistics/prhapplications-average-waiting-time/index.html
- 134. Evans GW, English K. The environment of poverty, multiple stressor exposure, psychophysical stress, and socioemotional adjustment. Child Development, 73 (4), 1238-1248, 2002. doi. org/10.1111/1467-8624.00469



- Social Indicators Hong Kong. Homeless persons per 100 000 population. 10 May 2020. socialindicators.org.hk/en/indicators/ housing/8.10
- 136. World Health Organization. Air Pollution. www. who.int/health-topics/air-pollution#tab=tab_3
- 137. Yin P, Brauer M, Cohen AJ, Wang H, Li J, Burnett RT, Stanaway JD, Causey K, Larson S, Godwin W, Frostad J, Marks A, Wang L, Zhou M.The effect of air pollution on deaths, disease burden, and life expectancy across China and its provinces, 1990– 2017: an analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study 2017. The Lancet Planetary Health, 2020, Vol. 4:9. doi.org/10.1016/S2542-5196(20)30161-3
- 138. Li VOK, Han Y, Lam JCK, Zhu Y, Bacon-Shone J. Air pollution and environmental injustice: Are the socially deprived exposed to more PM2.5 pollution in Hong Kong? Environmental Science & Policy, 2018, Vol. 80. doi.org/10.1016/j. envsci.2017.10.014
- 139. World Health Organization Regional Office for Europe. Health Effects of Particulate Matter: Policy implications for countries in Eastern Europe, Caucasus and central Asia. 2013. www. euro.who.int/en/health-topics/environmentand-health/air-quality/publications/2013/ health-effects-of-particulate-matter.-policyimplications-for-countries-in-eastern-europe,caucasus-and-central-asia-2013
- 140. Xu L, Ren C, Yuan C, Nichol JE, Goggins WB. An Ecological Study of the Association between Area-Level Green Space and Adult Mortality in Hong Kong. Climate, 2017, Vol. 5:3. doi. org/10.3390/cli5030055
- 141. Wong S, Chung R, Chan D, Chung G et al. What are the financial barriers to medical care among the poor, the sick and the disabled in the Special Administrative Region of China? Plos One, 2018. doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0205794
- 142. Lu JF et al. Horizontal equity in health care utilization evidence from three high-income Asian economies. Soc Sci Med 64(1): p. 199-212, 2007. doi.org/10.1016/j.socscimed.2006.08.033
- 143. Hart J. The Inverse Care Law. The Lancet, 1971, Vol. 297:7696. doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(71)92410-X
- 144. Yam H, Mercer S, Wong L, Chan W, Yeoh E. Public and private healthcare services utilization by noninstitutional elderly in Hong Kong: is the inverse care law operating? Health Policy, 2009, Vol. 91:3. doi.org/10.1016/j.healthpol.2008.12.012

- 145. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region.
 Thematic Household Survey Report No. 68.
 November 2019. www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/ B11302682019XXXXB0100.pdf
- 146. Hospital Authority. Waiting Time for Stable New Case Booking at Specialist Out-patient Clinics.2021. www.ha.org.hk/haho/ho/sopc/dw_wait_ls_ eng.pdf
- 147. Food and Health Bureau, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Voluntary Health Insurance Scheme. www.vhis.gov.hk/en/
- 148. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Thematic Household Survey Report No. 70: Pattern of smoking. 2020. www.statistics.gov.hk/pub/ B11302702020XXXXB0100.pdf
- 149. Non-communicable Diseases Branch, Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Report of Health Behaviour Survey 2018/2019. June 2020. www.chp.gov.hk/files/pdf/report_of_ health_behaviour_survey_2018_en.pdf
- 150. University of Hong Kong. Tobacco control shown to be the key driver for Hong Kong's worldleading longevity. 6th September 2021. www.hku. hk/press/news_detail_23217.html
- 151. Ho SY, Chen J, Leung LT, Mok HY, Wang L, Wang MP, Lam TH. Adolescent Smoking in Hong Kong: Prevalence, Psychosocial Correlates, and Prevention. Journal of Adolescent Health and Medicine, 2019, Vol. 64:S19eS27. doi.org/10.1016/j. jadohealth.2019.01.003
- 152. Wang L, Chen J, Leung LT, Ho SY, Lam TH, Wang MP. Use patterns of cigarettes and alternative tobacco products and socioeconomic correlates in Hong Kong secondary school students. Nature Scientific Reports, 2021, Vol. 11:17253. doi. org/10.1038/s41598-021-96452-y
- 153. Wang J, Gao Y, Lau P. Prevalence of overweight in Hong Kong Chinese children: Its associations with family, early-life development and behavioursrelated factors. J Exerc Sci Fit, 2017, Vol. 15:2. dx.doi.org/10.1016%2Fj.jesf.2017.10.001
- 154. Chung GKK, Lai FTT, Hung H, Yeoh EK, Chung RY. Differential educational patterning of cardiometabolic risks between women and men among community-dwelling Chinese adults in Hong Kong: the mediating role of obesity. Public Health Nutrition, 2021. doi.org/10.1017/S1368980021002044
- 155. Kickbush I, Pelikan J, Apfel F, Tsouros A. Health Literacy: The solid facts. World Health Organization. 2013. apps.who.int/iris/bitstream/ handle/10665/128703/e96854.pdf

- 156. Wang M, Viswanath K, Lam T, Wang X, Chan S. Social Determinants of Health Information Seeking among Chinese Adults in Hong Kong. Plos One, 2013, Vol. 8:8. doi.org/10.1371/journal. pone.0073049
- 157. Zhang Y, Cui Y, Shen M et al. Association of diabetes mellitus with disease severity and prognosis in COVID-19: a retrospective cohort study. Diabetes Res Clin Pract., 2020, 165:108227. doi.org/10.1016/j.diabres.2020.108227
- 158. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Coronavirus Disease (COVID-19) in HK. chp-dashboard.geodata.gov. hk/covid-19/en.html
- 159. Luk AOY, Ng SSS, Holt RIG. Impact of diabetes on COVID-19 and other infection: Report from the 22nd Hong Kong Diabetes and Cardiovascular Risk Factors—East Meets West Symposium. Diabet Med, 2021, 38: e14547. doi.org/10.1111/ dme.145
- 160. Wu Y, Yan X, Dong D, Chung RY, Yeoh EK. Equitable exit strategy is required: lessons learnt from Hong Kong's current resurgence of local outbreaks among individuals from highly deprived neighbourhoods. J Epidemiol Community Health 2020; 74:1080. doi. org/10.1136/jech-2020-215347
- Chung RY, Wong SY. Health Inequality in Hong Kong. China Review 2015; 15:91-118. www.jstor.org/ stable/43710027
- Centre for Health Protection, Department of Health. Latest situation of cases of COVID-19.
 2020. www.chp.gov.hk/en/features/102997.html
- 163. Wang K, Law CK, Zhao J et al. Measuring health-related social deprivation in small areas: development of an index and examination of its association with cancer mortality. Int J Equity Health, 2021, Vol. 20:216. doi.org/10.1186/s12939-021-01545-9
- 164. Wong NS, Lee SS, Kwan TH, Yeoh EK. Settings of virus exposure and their implications in the propagation of transmission networks in a COVID-19 outbreak. The Lancet Regional Health – Western Pacific 2020; 4:100052. doi.org/10.1016/j. lanwpc.2020.100052
- 165. Chung GKK, Chan S-M, Chan Y-H, Woo J, Wong H, Wong SY, Yeoh EK, Marmot M, Chung RY. Socioeconomic Patterns of COVID-19 Clusters in Low-Incidence City, Hong Kong. Emerging infectious Diseases, 2021, Vol. Volume 27, Number 11. doi.org/10.3201/eid2711.204840

- 166. Chung GKK, Chan S-M, Chan Y-H, Yip TC-F, Ma H-M, Wong GL-H, Chung RY-N, Wong H, Wong SY-S, Yeoh EK, Marmot M, Woo J. Differential Impacts of Multimorbidity on COVID-19 Severity across the Socioeconomic Ladder in Hong Kong: A Syndemic Perspective. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public Health, 2021, Vols. 18(15), 8168. doi. org/10.3390/ijerph18158168
- 167. Mansfield K, Mathur R, Tazare J, Henderson A, Mulick A. Indirect acute effects of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical and mental health in the UK: a population-based study. The Lancet Digital Health, 2021, Vol. 3:4
- 168. Mental health crisis under COVID-19 pandemic in Hong Kong, China . Zhao S, Wong J, Luk T, Wai A, Lam T, Wang M. 2020, s.l. : International Journal of Infectious Diseases , 2020, Vol. 100. doi. org/10.1016/s2589-7500(21)00017-0
- 169. Census and Statistics Department, Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Quarterly Report on General Household Survey. censtatd.gov.hk/en/EIndexbySubject. html?pcode=B1050001&scode=200#section3
- 170. World Bank. Unemployment, total (% of total labor force) (modeled ILO estimate). 29 January 2021. data.worldbank.org/indicator/SL.UEM.TOTL. ZS?locations=HK
- 171. UNICEF. Schools still closed for nearly 77 million students 18 months into pandemic . September 2021. www.unicef.org/press-releases/schoolsstill-closed-nearly-77-million-students-18-monthspandemic-unicef
- 172. Tso W, Wong R, Tung K et al. Vulnerability and resilience in children during the COVID-19 pandemic. European Child & Adolescent Psychiatry, 2020. doi.org/10.1007/s00787-020-01680-8
- 173. UNESCO. Adverse consequences of school closures. en.unesco.org/covid19/ educationresponse/consequences
- 174. UNICEF. Unequal access to remote schooling amid COVID-19 threatens to deepen global learning crisis. 4 June 2020. www.unicef.org/ press-releases/unequal-access-remote-schoolingamid-covid-19-threatens-deepen-global-learning
- 175. Wu S, Pang J. A poorer student falls behind in Hong Kong as coronavirus forces online learning. Reuters. 20 March 2020. www.reuters. com/article/us-health-coronavirus-hongkongstudents-idUSKBN2170X5

- 176. Avvisati F, Echazarra A, Givord P, Schwabe M. Results from PISA 2018: Country Note Hong Kong (China). OECD Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA), 2019. www.oecd.org/ pisa/publications/PISA2018_CN_HKG.pdf
- 177. Allen J, Valentine N, Koller T, Kannangarage NW, Solar O, Boyce T, Pinto R, Romani J, Buzelli L, Lionello L, Pallito C, Morisod K et al. Evidence brief: COVID-19 and the social determinants of health and health equity. WHO, 2021 (preprint).
- 178. Lui I, Vandan N, Davies S, Harman S, Morgan R, Smith J, Wenham C, Grepin K. We also deserve help during the pandemic: The effect of the COVID-19 pandemic on foreign domestic workers in Hong Kong . Journal of Migration and health, 2021, Vol. 4. doi.org/10.1016/j.jmh.2021.100037
- 179. Guadagno L. Migrants and the COVID-19 pandemic: An initial analysis . International Organization for Migration. 2020. publications. iom.int/system/files/pdf/mrs-60.pdf
- 180. International Monetary Fund. Policy Responses to COVID-19. 6 April 2021. www.imf.org/en/Topics/ imf-and-covid19/Policy-Responses-to-COVID-19#H
- 181. Research Office Legislative Council Secretariat. The 2021-2022 Budget. Research Brief Issue No.3 2020-2021. April 2021. www.legco.gov.hk/ research-publications/english/2021rb03-the-2021-2022-budget-20210407-e.pdf
- 182. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. First round of \$30 billion Anti-epidemic Fund. 2020. www.coronavirus.gov. hk/eng/anti-epidemic-fund-1.html
- 183. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Anti-epidemic Fund.
 2020. www.coronavirus.gov.hk/eng/antiepidemic-fund.html
- 184. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Measures approved by the Anti-epidemic Fund Steering Committee. 2021. www.coronavirus.gov.hk/eng/anti-epidemic-fundnew16.html
- 185. Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region. Fight the Virus Together Support Hong Kong Together. April 2020. www. coronavirus.gov.hk/pdf/fund/CE-Measure-12-eng.pdf
- 186. Hong Kong Jockey Club. Jockey Club announces new Community Sustainability Fund to further tackle the impact of COVID-19. 7 May 2020. www.hkjc.org.cn/en-US/about/news.aspx?in_ file=news_2020050701624.html
- Devex. Hong Kong Council of Social Service (HKCSS). https://www.hkcss.org.hk/aboutus/?lang=en

- 188. Hong Kong Council of Social Service. Social Welfare anti-epidemic. ac19.hkcss.org.hk/
- 189. Hong Kong Red Cross. Overcome the Adversity Together. redcross.org.hk/en/ncov2019.html
- 190. Hong Kong Red Cross. In Reponse to COVID-19 Pandemic Hong KOng Red Cross Provides Support to Around 5,000 Citizens in Past Two Weeks and Says Everyone Has a Role to Support Vulnerable Groups. 4 February 2021. www.redcross.org.hk/en/press_room/press_ release_2021/20210204.html
- 191. Volunteering in Hong Kong. People's Food Bank.
 2 July 2013. hongkongvolunteer.wordpress. com/2013/07/02/peoples-food-bank/
- 192. St James' Settlement. People's Food Bank. St James' Settlement. www.sjs.org.hk/en/project/ charity-details.php?id=8

All weblinks functional as of 10 November 2021.



81

